
Agenda and Meeting Materials
March 2, 2016

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

12676 Gemini Boulevard
Orlando, Florida 32816

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Introductory Materials

1



 
 
 

ACTIVITIES 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS MEETINGS 

 
Grand Ballroom 

UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center 
University of Central Florida 

12676 Gemini Boulevard 
Orlando, Florida 32816 

March 2, 2016 
 

By Telephone Conference Call 
Dial-in Number:  888-670-3525 

Listen-Only Code:  4122150353# 
 
 
 
Wednesday, March 2, 2016 
    
1:00 – 1:15 p.m.,  Nomination and Governance Committee 
  or upon  Chair:  Mr. Tom Kuntz; Vice Chair: Mr. Ned Lautenbach 
  Adjournment of  Members: Colson, Hosseini, Link, Tripp 
  Previous Meetings 
 
1:15 – 4:00 p.m. Board of Governors – Regular Meeting 
  or upon  Chair: Mr. Tom Kuntz; Vice Chair: Mr. Ned Lautenbach 
  Adjournment of All Board members 
  Previous Meetings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please note that this schedule may change at the Chair's privilege. 



AGENDA
Nomination and Governance Committee

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

12676 Gemini Boulevard
Orlando, Florida 32816

March 2, 2016
1:00 p.m. – 1:15 p.m.

or 
Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

Chair: Mr. Tom Kuntz; Vice Chair: Mr. Ned Lautenbach
Members: Colson, Hosseini, Link, Tripp

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Tom Kuntz

2.  Minutes of Committee Meeting Governor Kuntz
Minutes, January 20, 2016

3. Recommendations of Candidates to fill Trustee Vacancies
and Report on Applicant Interview

a. Florida Gulf Coast University Governor Lautenbach
Governor Colson

Governor Link

b. University of Florida Governor Kuntz
Governor Hosseini

Governor Colson

4. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment                           Governor Kuntz

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

3



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Nomination and Governance Committee
March 2, 2016

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held January 20, 2016

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Approval of Minutes of the Meeting held on January 20, 2016, at Florida State 
University. 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Committee members will review and approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 
January 20, 2016, at Florida State University. 

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes: January 20, 2016

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Tom Kuntz

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

4



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TURNBULL CONFERENCE CENTER
FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA
JANUARY 20, 2016

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its Committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

Mr. Hosseini convened the meeting of the Nomination and Governance
Committee of the Board of Governors on January 20, 2016, at 3:49 p.m., with the 
following members present: Dean Colson, Tom Kuntz, Wendy Link, and Norman 
Tripp.

1. Approval of Minutes of Meeting held September 2, 2015

Mr. Colson moved approval of the Minutes of the Meeting held September 2, 
2015, as presented.  Mr. Tripp seconded the motion, and members of the Committee 
concurred.  

2. Recommendations to fill Trustee Vacancies

Mr. Hosseini reported the Committee has vacancies for all twelve universities 
and subcommittees had been assigned to review the applications and interview 
potential candidates.  Mr. Hosseini thanked his fellow committee members for their 
time and noted that appointments are an extremely important function of the Board 
given the significant oversight responsibilities a trustee has to his or her university. 

Florida A & M University 

Mr. Hosseini said he and Mr. Tripp had reviewed the applicants for the trustee 
vacancies at Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University and also asked Mr. Levine 
for his input. Mr. Hosseini said the committee will be filling two of three vacancies and 
called on Mr. Tripp for a recommendation.  Mr. Tripp noted that FAMU had a large 
number of applicants and recommended Mr. Craig Reed and Mr. Thomas Dortch Jr. for 
appointment, subject to attending an orientation. 

Mr. Reed is the executive director of sourcing and logistics for DuPont, USA. He 
currently serves as a board member for the Institute for Supply Management Services 
and previously served as a trustee for the Cleveland Museum of Natural History. Mr. 
Reed received his bachelor’s degree in business economics from Florida A & M 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

5



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

2

University, and his master’s degree in business administration and supply chain 
management from Arizona State University.

Mr. Dortch is the chair of Lancor Parking Solutions and the chair and chief 
executive officer of TWD, Inc. He previously served as chair of the 100 Black Men of 
America, Inc., and currently serves on the Board of Visitors for the Florida A & M 
School of Business. Mr. Dortch received his bachelor’s degree from Fort Valley State 
University, his master’s degree from Clark Atlanta University, and was a Ford Fellow at 
Georgia State University. 

Mr. Hosseini then called on Mr. Levine for his input. Mr. Levine said he had the 
opportunity to talk to many qualified candidates and noted that he did not just look at 
individuals who applied, but also sought out applicants. Mr. Levine expressed that 
both of the nominated individuals are well-credentialed and have strong references. 
Mr. Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.  

Florida Atlantic University

Mr. Hosseini said he, Mr. Colson and Mr. Tripp vetted the applicants for the 
trustee vacancies at Florida Atlantic University and called on Mr. Tripp for a 
recommendation. Mr. Tripp recommended the reappointment of Mr. Robert Stilley and 
the appointment of Mr. Shaun Davis, subject to attending an orientation.  

Mr. Stilley is the president and chief executive officer of HeartCare Imaging, Inc. 
He currently serves as a board member of the Jupiter Medical Center and the Harbor 
Branch Oceanographic Institution Foundation. Mr. Stilley has served on the Florida 
Atlantic University Board of Trustees since 2011. He received his bachelor’s degree in 
business administration from the University of Florida.

Mr. Davis is the managing partner of S. Davis & Associates, PA. He previously 
served as chair and treasurer of the United Way of Broward County and the Urban 
League of Broward County. Mr. Davis received his bachelor’s degree in accounting 
from Florida State University. Mr. Tripp noted that he has personally known Mr. Davis 
for some time and asked him to consider serving as a trustee. Mr. Kuntz seconded the 
motion, and members of the Committee concurred.

Florida Gulf Coast University 

Mr. Hosseini said the committee will be deferring the vacancies at Florida Gulf 
Coast University until the next meeting. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

6



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

3

Florida International University

Mr. Hosseini said that he, Mr. Kuntz and Mr. Tripp had reviewed the 
applications for the Florida International University trustee vacancies and called on Mr. 
Kuntz for a recommendation. Mr. Kuntz noted FIU has two vacancies but suggests the 
committee move forward filling one. Mr. Kuntz recommended that Mr. Gerald Grant 
be reappointed to the FIU Board, subject to attending an orientation, noting that he has 
been a strong contributor to the FIU Board. 

Mr. Grant is the director of financial planning for AXA Advisors, LLC. He 
currently serves as a board member of the United Way of Miami-Dade and the Orange 
Bowl Committee. Mr. Grant has served on the Florida International University Board of 
Trustees since 2011. He received his bachelor’s and master’s degree from Florida 
International University. Mr. Tripp seconded the motion, and members of the 
Committee concurred.  

Florida Polytechnic University

Mr. Hosseini said that Mr. Kuntz, Ms. Link and Mr. Tripp had reviewed the 
applications for the Florida Polytechnic University trustee vacancies and called on Ms. 
Link for a recommendation.  Ms. Link recommended the reappointments of Dr. Sandra 
Featherman and Mr. Frank Martin, subject to attending an orientation.  

Dr. Featherman is the former president of the University of New England. She 
currently serves as a board member of the Maine Community Foundation and the 
Commission on Osteopathic College Accreditation. Dr. Featherman has served on the 
Florida Polytechnic University Board of Trustees since 2012. She received her 
bachelor’s, master’s, and doctoral degrees from University of Pennsylvania. 

Mr. Martin is the president of Frank T. Martin Consult, LLC. He was previously 
a senior vice president of Atkins North America.  Mr. Martin previously served as a 
board member of the American Public Transportation Association and the secretary and 
treasurer of the Conference of Minority Transportation. He has served on the Florida 
Polytechnic University Board of Trustees since 2012 and is the current vice-chair. Mr. 
Martin received his bachelor’s degree in business administration from Tennessee State 
University and his master’s degree in urban and regional planning from Fisk 
University. Mr. Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.  

Florida State University

Mr. Hosseini reported that he, Mr. Colson and Mr. Kuntz vetted the applicants 
for Florida State University and called on Mr. Kuntz for a recommendation.  Mr. Kuntz
recommended the reappointment of Mr. Edward Burr, and the appointment of Mr. 
Craig Mateer, subject to attending an orientation.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

7



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

4

Mr. Burr is the president and chief executive officer of GreenPointe Holdings, 
LLC. He currently serves as a board member of the Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce 
and the Jacksonville Civil Council. Mr. Burr has served on the Florida State University
Board of Trustees since 2011 and is the current chair. He received his bachelor’s degree 
in accounting from Florida State University.  Mr. Kuntz noted his service to the board. 

Mr. Mateer is the founder and chief executive officer of Bags, Inc. He previously 
served as a board member of Visit Orlando and the Salvation Army of Orlando. Mr.
Mateer received his bachelor’s degree in sociology from Florida State University. Mr. 
Kuntz commented that Mr. Mateer is a highly qualified candidate. Mr. Tripp seconded 
the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.  

New College of Florida

Mr. Hosseini said that Mr. Colson, Ms. Link and Mr. Tripp reviewed the 
applicants for the New College of Florida trustee vacancies and called on Mr. Tripp for 
a recommendation.  Mr. Tripp recommended the reappointment of Ms. Audrey 
Coleman, and the appointment of Mr. John Lilly, subject to attending an orientation.  

Ms. Coleman is a former school administrator. She currently serves as a board 
member of the Community Foundation of Sarasota County and the Children First 
board. Ms. Coleman has served on the New College of Florida Board of Trustees since 
2011. She received her bachelor’s degree in music education from Youngstown State 
University and her master’s degree in education from Boston State University. 

Mr. Lilly is the president of John Lilly Strategic Insights. He was previously the 
president of the Pillsbury Company and held various executive positions with the 
Procter and Gamble Company. Mr. Lilly currently serves as a trustee for Sarah 
Lawrence College. He received his bachelor’s degree in economics from Emory 
University and his master’s degree in business administration from Harvard. Mr. 
Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.  

University of Central Florida

Mr. Hosseini said he, Mr. Kuntz and Ms. Link vetted the applicants for the
University of Central Florida and noted the committee will only be recommending 
filling two of the three vacancies at this meeting. Mr. Hosseini then called on Mr. Kuntz
for a recommendation. Mr. Kuntz recommended the reappointments of Mr. Alexander 
Martins and Mr. Marcos Marchena, subject to attending an orientation. 

Mr. Martins is the chief executive officer of the Orlando Magic. He currently 
serves as a board member of Seaside National Bank Central Florida Region and 
previously served as a board member of the Central Florida Commission on 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

8



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

5

Homelessness. Mr. Martins has served on the University of Central Florida Board of 
Trustees since 2013.  He received his bachelor’s degree in business administration from 
Villanova University and his master’s degree in business administration from the 
University of Central Florida. Mr. Kuntz noted his involvement in the community and 
his commitment to the Board. 

Mr. Marchena is a senior partner with Marchena and Graham. He previously 
served as chair of the Florida Transportation Commission and as a trustee at Valencia 
College. Mr. Marchena has served on the University of Central Florida Board of 
Trustees since 2011 and is the current chair. He received his bachelor’s degree in 
political science from the University of Central Florida and his law degree from Stetson 
College of Law. Mr. Kuntz explained Mr. Marchena has been a very active board 
member and an excellent member of the community. Mr. Colson seconded the motion, 
and members of the Committee concurred. 

University of Florida

Mr. Hosseini said he, Mr. Colson and Mr. Kuntz vetted the applicants for the 
University of Florida. Mr. Hosseini noted there are two vacancies on the UF Board, but 
the committee will only be recommending to fill one and called on Mr. Kuntz for a 
recommendation. Mr. Kuntz recommended the appointment of Ms. Marsha Powers, 
subject to attending an orientation.  

Ms. Powers is the chief executive officer of Tenet Healthcare, Florida Region. She 
currently serves as a board member of the Associated Industries of Florida and the 
Federation of American Hospitals. Ms. Powers received her bachelor’s degree from 
Sweet Briar College and her master’s degree in business administration from the 
University of Florida. Mr. Kuntz noted Ms. Powers will be a great asset to the UF Board 
based on her qualifications. Mr. Tripp seconded the motion, and members of the 
Committee concurred.

University of North Florida

Mr. Hosseini said that he, Mr. Colson and Mr. Tripp vetted the applicants for the 
UNF trustee vacancies.  Mr. Tripp recommended the reappointment of Ms. Sharon 
Wamble-King, and the appointment of Mr. Paul McElroy, subject to attending an 
orientation.  

Ms. Wamble-King is the president of K-WAM Consulting, LLC. She was 
previously the vice president of Florida Blue. Ms. Wamble-King currently serves as a 
trustee for Florida Memorial University and has served on the University of North 
Florida Board of Trustees since 2011. She received her bachelor’s degree in 
communications and sociology from the University of the Pacific and her master’s 
degree in mass communications from California State University. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

9



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

6

Mr. McElroy is the chief executive officer of JEA. He currently serves as a board 
member of the Jacksonville Chamber of Commerce and the American Public Power 
Association. Mr. McElroy received his bachelor’s degree in accounting from St. Joseph’s 
College and a certificate in advanced management from the University of Pennsylvania. 
Mr. Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.

University of South Florida

Mr. Hosseini said Mr. Kuntz and Ms. Link reviewed the applicants for the trustee 
vacancies at the University of South Florida. Ms. Link recommended the 
reappointments of Ms. Stephanie Goforth and Ms. Nancy Watkins, subject to their 
attendance at an orientation, noting both trustees have served the university well. 

Ms. Goforth is the president of Northern Trust, West Florida Region. She 
currently serves as a board member of the All Children’s Hospital Foundation and the 
St. Petersburg YMCA board. Ms. Goforth has served on the University of South Florida
Board of Trustees since 2011. She received her bachelor’s degree in business 
administration from the University of South Florida. 

Ms. Watkins is a certified public accountant and founding partner at Robert 
Watkins & Company, PA. She currently serves as director of the Tampa Bay Chapter of 
the American Red Cross and previously served as a trustee at Hillsborough Community 
College. Ms. Watkins has served on the University of South Florida Board of Trustees 
since 2013. She received her bachelor’s degree from the University of South Florida.
Mr. Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.

University of West Florida

Mr. Hosseini said Mr. Kuntz and Ms. Link vetted the applicants for the 
University of West Florida trustee vacancies and called on Ms. Link for a 
recommendation.  Ms. Link recommended the reappointment of Mr. David Cleveland 
and the appointment of Mr. Richard Baker, subject to attending an orientation. 

Mr. Cleveland is a partner and senior vice president of Highpointe Hotel 
Corporation. He previously served as a board member of the Pensacola Area Chamber 
of Commerce and has served on the University of West Florida Board of Trustees since 
2011. Mr. Cleveland received his bachelor’s degree in marketing from Florida State 
University and his master’s degree in business administration and finance from the 
University of Texas/Austin. 

Mr. Baker is the director of human resources for the Pensacola Blue Wahoos. He 
currently serves as a board member of the Sacred Heart Health System. Mr. Baker 
received his bachelor’s degree in business from the University of Florida and his 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

10



MINUTES: NOMINATION AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE                   
January 20, 2016

7

master’s degree in business administration from the University of Pennsylvania. Mr. 
Kuntz seconded the motion, and members of the Committee concurred.  

3. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Mr. Kuntz thanked Mr. Levine for his help in vetting the applicants for Florida 
Agricultural and Mechanical University. 

Having no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:12 p.m., January 20, 
2016. 

__________________________
Mori Hosseini, Chair

____________________________
Vikki Shirley
Corporate Secretary

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

11



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Nomination and Governance Committee
March 2, 2016

SUBJECT:  Appointment of University Trustees

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Appointment of University Trustees for Florida Gulf Coast University and the 
University of Florida

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Board of Governors Trustee Selection and 
Reappointment Process

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Florida Gulf Coast University and the University of Florida have trustee vacancies for 
terms that ended on January 6, 2016.

In accordance with the University Board of Trustee Selection and Reappointment 
Process, the vacancy was posted for the public on the Board’s website and a number of 
applications were received. 

Chair Kuntz assigned Committee members to sub-committees to review the 
applications from the specific institutions.  Each sub-committee member independently 
vetted the applicants and advised the Corporate Secretary of the applicants advanced to 
a short list.  The sub-committee members will recommend candidates for review and 
consideration by the full Committee.

Supporting Documentation Included:

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Tom Kuntz

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Nomination and Governance Committee

12



AGENDA
Board of Governors Meeting

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

12676 Gemini Boulevard
Orlando, Florida 32816

March 2, 2016
1:15 p.m. – 4:00 p.m.

or
Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

1. Call to Order and Chair’s Remarks Chair Tom Kuntz

2. Public Comment Chair Kuntz

3. Update to the National Rankings Publications List Dr. Jan Ignash
Vice Chancellor

Academic and Student Affairs
Board of Governors

4. Nomination and Governance Committee Report Chair Kuntz
∑ Appointment of University Trustees

5. University of Central Florida Downtown Campus Governor Dean Colson

6. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment  Chair Kuntz

Public comment will only be taken on agenda items before the Board.  Public comment forms will be 
available at the staff table at each meeting and must be submitted prior to the plenary meeting of the 
Board.  A maximum of 15 minutes will be set aside after the Chancellor’s Report to accept public 
comment from individuals, groups, or factions who have submitted a public comment form.)

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

13



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

March 2, 2016

SUBJECT:  Public Comment

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes; Article V, 
Section H, Board of Governors Operating Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Article V, Section H, of the Board of Governors Operating Procedures provides for 
public comment on propositions before the Board.  The Board will reserve a maximum 
of fifteen minutes during the plenary meeting of the Board to take public comment.  

Individuals, organizations, groups or factions who desire to appear before the Board to 
be heard on a proposition pending before the Board shall complete a public comment 
form specifying the matter on which they wish to be heard.  Public comment forms 
will be available at each meeting and must be submitted prior to the plenary meeting.  

Organizations, groups or factions wishing to address the Board on a proposition shall 
designate a representative to speak on its behalf to ensure the orderly presentation of 
information to the Board.  Individuals and representatives of organizations, groups or 
factions shall be allotted three minutes to present information; however, this time limit 
may be extended or shortened depending upon the number of speakers at the 
discretion of the Chair. 

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Chair Tom Kuntz

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

14



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

March 2, 2016

SUBJECT:  Update to the National Rankings Publications List 

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

For approval

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

This agenda item proposes to update the list of publications the Board of Governors 
considers when evaluating its 2025 System Strategic Plan’s “National Rankings for 
Universities” goals. The Princeton Review and USA Today ‘Best Value Public Colleges’ is 
one of the 13 publications in the current list that the Board uses to evaluate its 2025 
“National Rankings for Universities” goals. However, the Princeton Review and USA 
Today have discontinued their joint ‘Best Value Public Colleges’ list. Board staff are 
proposing to update the Board’s official list of National Ranking publications with the 
new Princeton Review publication, “Top 50 Colleges That Pay You Back”, which is 
similarly focused on evaluating institutions based on academics, affordability, and 
career prospects for graduates. 

The Board’s National Rankings Publications List was last updated at the November 
2014 Board of Governors meeting, when the Fiske Guide was added as a new publication 
to the previous list of 12 publications. 

Approval of this item will replace the Princeton Review and USA Today ‘Best Value 
Public Colleges’ publication with the Princeton Review’s, “Top 50 Colleges That Pay You 
Back” publication.

Supporting Documentation Included: Proposal to Update the National Ranking 
Publications List

Facilitators/Presenters: Dr. Jan Ignash

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

15



Proposal to Update the National Ranking Publications List
March 2016

1 | P a g e

In the latest version of its 2012-2025 Strategic Plan approved in November 2014, the
Board of Governors included several performance indicators under the category of
“promoting excellence.” One of those indicators, “National Rankings for Universities”
included the Princeton Review and USA Today ‘Best Value Public Colleges’ as one of 13
publications in a list that could be used to evaluate progress toward the Board’s 2025
goals. However, the Princeton Review and USA Today have discontinued their joint ‘Best
Value Public Colleges’ list. Board staff are proposing to update the Board’s official list of
National Ranking publications by replacing the discontinued publication with a new
Princeton Review publication, “Top 50 Colleges That Pay You Back”, which is similarly
focused on evaluating institutions based on academics, affordability, and career
prospects for graduates. The Princeton Review’s new “Top 50 Colleges That Pay You
Back” ranking publication evaluates more than 40 data points covering academics,
costs, financial aid, debt, grad rates, and career/salary data from more than 600
postsecondary institutions.

Board of Governors List of National Ranking Publications
∑ Adjustment: Replace the discontinued Princeton Review and USA Today ‘Best Value 

Public Colleges’ with the Princeton Review ‘Top 50 Colleges That Pay You Back’ 
rankings. The complete list of ranking publications includes the following 
publications:

1. US News and World Report: National Public Universities
2. Washington Monthly: National Universities
3. Center for Measuring University Performance (Public Only)
4. Times Higher Education World University Rankings
5. QS World University Ranking
6. Academic Ranking of World Universities
7. Washington Monthly: Liberal Arts Colleges
8. Forbes
9. Kiplinger Best College Value (In-state students)
11. US News and World Report: Liberal Arts Colleges
12. Princeton Review and USA Today: Best Value Public 
Colleges
12. NEW: Princeton Review: Top 50 Colleges That Pay You 
Back
13. Fiske Guide to Colleges: Best Value Public Colleges

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

16



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

March 2, 2016

SUBJECT:  Appointment of University Trustees

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Appointment of University Trustees

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Board of Governors Trustee Selection and 
Reappointment Process

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In accordance with the University Board of Trustee Selection and Reappointment 
Process, the following universities have trustee vacancies for terms that ended on 
January 6, 2016:

1. Florida Gulf Coast University, and
2. University of Florida.

The vacancies were posted on the Board’s website and a significant number of 
applications were received.  

Chair Kuntz assigned Committee members to sub-committees to review the 
applications from the specific institutions and the Committee will recommend 
candidates for review and consideration by the Board.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

17



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

18



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

March 2, 2016

SUBJECT:  Request for Approval of Type 1 Campus for the University of Central 
Florida Downtown Campus

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Approve a University of Central Florida Type I Downtown Campus.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Board of Governors Regulation 8.009

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The University of Central Florida (UCF) is requesting authorization to create a Type I 
Downtown Campus in conjunction with Valencia College.  Informational presentations 
were made at the Board’s February 19th, 2015 meeting, and again at the September 22nd

2015 Budget and Facilities Committee’s workshop.  

On October 20, 2015 UCF submitted a proposal for requesting a Type I Downtown 
Campus, in time to place its request on the Board of Governors November 2015 agenda.  
The Board of Governors staff produced an analysis of the proposal in which it raised a 
number of questions, particularly with regard to the critical issue of enrollment 
projections.  This staff analysis was shared with the UCF administration.  Subsequently, 
UCF requested and received approval to have its request tabled until the January 2016 
meeting of the Board of Governors.  On December 4, 2015, UCF submitted a response to 
its proposal. Prior to the January 2016 meeting UCF requested additional time for 
consideration of the proposal until they were able to secure commitments for private 
funding and clarify local government support for the project. On February 8, the 
Orlando City Council unanimously approved a Memorandum of Understanding 
between the City of Orlando and the University of Central Florida, promising that $20 
million in land would be transferred from the City to UCF for the Downtown Center.  
The City would also transfer to UCF a $22.5 million-valued building called the Center
for Emerging Media that currently offers instruction downtown.

Included as documentation for this request in chronological order are:

∑ UCF Proposal for a Type I Campus in Downtown Orlando
∑ Appendix A – Projected enrollment and budget tables (Tables 1 – 3)

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

19



∑ Appendix B – Original MOU with City of Orlando, dated October 20, 2015
∑ Appendix C – Letters of support from the local community
∑ Appendix D – UCF and Valencia College letters of support
∑ Addendum to the Type 1 Campus proposal, December 4, 2015
∑ Board of Governors staff analysis; December 16, 2016
∑ Clarifications provided by UCF to questions raised in the Board staff analysis, 

December 18, 2016
∑ Revised Memorandum of Understanding, City of Orlando and the University of 

Central Florida, February 8, 2016

The Board will hear a presentation made by the University of Central Florida with 
regard to the appropriateness of the Downtown Campus; the proposed academic 
programs to be offered at the Downtown Campus; the number of students estimated to 
take advantage of the Downtown Campus; costs associated with the Downtown 
Campus; any potential ramifications with respect to regional accreditation; the 
expectations for student services, academic support, recreational facilities, and health 
services at the proposed Downtown Campus; any potential impact on upper level 
undergraduate and graduate students who are attending the University of Central 
Florida’s main campus; and the number of faculty and administrators expected to be 
associated with the Downtown Campus.

Supporting Documentation Included: University Proposal with Addenda 
Board Staff Analysis and University responses
Orlando City Council February 8, 2016 MOU 
and exhibits

Facilitators/Presenters: President John Hitt

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

20



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

21



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

22



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

23



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

24



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

25



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

26



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

27



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

28



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

29



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

30



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

31



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

32



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

33



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

34



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

35



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

36



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

37



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

38



 
 
 
 

Board of Governors 
Type I Campus Proposal 

University of Central Florida – UCF Downtown 
 

Appendix A 
 
 

Tables 1-3 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

39



CIP Baccalaureate Degree Degree
Code Program Title Level Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE
09.0101 Human Communication B 850 858 867 875 885 893 901 911 920 929
22.0302 Legal Studies (B.A. and B.S.) B 755 445 773 454 787 463 803 472 819 482
44.0701 Social Work B 384 222 391 227 399 231 407 236 415 240
50.0102 Digital Media B 884 455 902 464 920 474 938 483 957 493
50.0702 Art (B.F.A.) Specialization; Character Animation B 45 23 46 24 47 24 48 25 49 25
51.0701 Health Services Administration B 1445 1165 1474 1189 1504 1213 1533 1237 1564 1261
51.0706 Health Informatics and Information Management B 149 120 152 123 154 125 158 128 161 130
xxxx xxxxxxxxxx B

TOTAL BACCALAUREATE 4512 3288 4605 3356 4696 3423 4788 3492 4885 3560

CIP Master's Degree Degree
Code Program Title Level Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE
09.0101 Communication M 60 22 61 22 62 23 63 23 64 23
44.0701 Social Work M 303 254 308 259 314 265 320 270 327 275
50.0102 Digital Media (M.A.) and Interactive Entertainment (M.S.) M 128 67 131 68 133 70 136 71 139 73
51.0000 Health Sciences M 298 124 305 126 311 129 317 132 323 134
51.0706 Health Care Informatics M 82 34 84 35 86 35 87 36 89 37
xxxx xxxxxxxxxx M

TOTAL MASTER'S 871 501 889 510 906 522 923 532 942 542

CIP College Credit Certificate Course
Code Program Title Level Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE
09.0102 Corporate Communication G 12 3 12 3 12 3 13 4 13 4
44.0707 Military Social Work G 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
xxxx xxxxxxxxxx UG 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL CERTIFICATE 12 3 12 3 12 3 13 4 13 4

5395 3792 5506 3869 5614 3948 5724 4028 5840 4106

Year 1 - 2018 Year 3 - 2020 Year 4 - 2021 Year 5 - 2022Year 2 - 2019

APPENDIX A
TABLE 1

UCF DEGEE PROGRAMS PLANNED AND PROJECTED ENROLLMENTS
(Fall Headcount and FTE)

Year 2 - 2019 Year 3 - 2020 Year 4 - 2021 Year 5 - 2022Year 1 - 2018

Year 2 - 2019 Year 3 - 2020 Year 4 - 2021 Year 5 - 2022Year 1 - 2018

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

40



Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

0 602,352 1,133,198 1,348,926 1,307,226

4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000
846,395 846,395 846,395 846,395 846,395

State Allocations (GR/Lottery) - Physical Plant New Space 1,536,398 1,536,398 1,536,398 1,536,398 1,536,398

19,904,323 20,302,348 20,708,006 21,122,765 21,545,734
4,071,054 4,152,488 4,235,531 4,320,276 4,406,630
3,996,168 4,076,104 4,157,565 4,240,784 4,325,607

0 0 0 0 0

865,905 883,226 900,870 918,906 937,294
1,744,738 1,779,638 1,815,228 1,851,547 1,888,556

245,357 250,264 255,266 260,375 265,584
911,479 929,711 948,284 967,270 986,625

0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0

998,635 1,018,610 1,038,971 1,059,765 1,080,958
1,344,316 1,371,206 1,398,615 1,426,607 1,455,136
1,601,361 1,633,393 1,666,043 1,699,387 1,733,370
2,115,451 2,157,766 2,200,898 2,244,946 2,289,840
1,723,974 1,758,459 1,793,609 1,829,506 1,866,091

0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0

45,905,554 47,298,358 48,634,877 49,673,853 50,471,444

21,591,647 22,436,296 23,314,477 24,228,293 25,178,339
849,709 866,703 884,037 901,718 919,753
493,500 503,370 513,437 523,706 534,180

2,943,970 3,010,288 3,078,247 3,147,973 3,219,411
1,383,047 1,435,460 1,489,902 1,546,480 1,605,237

423,120 423,120 423,120 423,120 423,120
648,584 674,771 702,035 730,434 759,992

1,194,300 1,242,505 1,292,717 1,345,032 1,399,503
759,250 779,732 804,421 833,989 869,563
401,087 445,249 525,087 542,195 559,885

3,536,979 3,048,072 2,732,994 2,387,567 1,772,566
2,382,793 2,430,449 2,479,057 2,528,639 2,579,212
8,695,216 8,869,145 9,046,420 9,227,481 9,412,020
45,303,202 46,165,160 47,285,951 48,366,627 49,232,781

602,352 1,133,198 1,348,926 1,307,226 1,238,663

* Transfer to Auxilaries  includes revenue from Capital Improvement Fee, Transportation Access Fee, Health Fee, Athletic Fee, Activity & Service Fee, and Student Technology Fee
**No new state funding is being requested for non-facility related operating expenses

Transfer to Auxiliaries *
Total Expenses**
Operating Net Revenues Over Expenses

Rent Expense
Contractual Services
Equipment
Information Technology 
Library Services/e-Collections
Shared Services
Plant Costs and Operating Supplies

Other Operating Expense

Health Fee
Athletic Fee
Activity & Service Fee
State and Private Grants
Donations and Other Miscellaneous  Revenue

Total Revenues

General Operations Expenses
Compensation and Employee Benefits - Programs
Compensation and Employee Benefits - Police
Compensation and Employee Benefits - Student Services
Financial Aid, Scholarships, Stipends

Transportation Access Fee

Research Trust Funds (by title)
XYZ Trust Fund

Financial Aid and Academic Related Fees
Financial Aid
Tuition (Differential, 30% Financial Aid)
Out of State Financial Aid
Student Technology Fee
Student Distance Learning Fee
Other Fees (Material/Supply, Facility/Equipment, etc.)

Other Revenues
Capital Improvement Fee

Out of State Student Tuition Fees

APPENDIX A
TABLE 2

SUMMARY FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS TO FULL IMPLEMENTATION
Fiscal Year Ending June 30
General Operations Revenues               
Carry Forward from Prior Year
General Revenue/Lottery

State Allocations (GR/Lottery) - Existing

Tuition/Tuition Differential and Fees
Tuition (Matriculation)
Tuition (Differential, 70% UG Support)

State Allocations (GR/Lottery) - Physical Plant Existing Space

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

41



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM
CIP-3 SHORT TERM PROJECT EXPLANATION Page ___of ___   

GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION:  University of Central Florida, Orlando COUNTY: Orange
PROJECT DESCRIPTION/TITLE: UCF Downtown Campus Builidng I PROJECT BR No. (if assigned):____

Net to 
Facility/Space Net Area Gross Gross Area Unit Cost Construction Assumed Occupancy

Type (NASF) Conversion (GSF) (Cost/GSF)* Cost Bid Date Date
Classrooms 33,333 1.5 50,000 274 13,700,000
Teaching Labs 33,333 1.5 50,000 268 13,400,000
Research Labs 0 1.5 0 375 0
Study 10,714 1.4 15,000 286 4,290,000
Instructional Media 9,333 1.5 14,000 213 2,982,000
Auditorium/Exhibition 8,333 1.2 10,000 310 3,100,000
Gymnasiums 0 1.2 0 225 0 Space Detail for Remodeling Projects
Offices 17,333 1.5 26,000 284 7,384,000 BEFORE AFTER
Campus Support Services 0 1.4 0 276 0 Space Net Area Space Net Area
Totals 112,381 165,000 44,856,000 Type (NASF) Type (NASF)
*Apply Unit Cost to total GSF based on primary space type

Remodeling/Renovation

Total Construction - New & Rem./Renov. 44,856,000 Total 0 Total 0

SCHEDULE OF PROJECT COMPONENTS ESTIMATED COSTS
Funded to

Basic Construction Cost  Date 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Funded & In CIP
1. a.Construction Cost (from above) 44,856,000 -                        
   Add'l/Extraordinary Const. Costs -                        
    b.Environmental Impacts/Mitigation -              -                        
    c.Site Preparation 732,000      -                        
    d.Landscape/Irrigaiton 416,000      -                        
    e.Plaza/Walks 324,000      -                        
    f.Roadway Improvements -              -                        
    g.Parking ___ spaces -              -                        
    h.Telecommunication 1,620,000   -                        
    i.Electrical Service 624,538      -                        
    j.Water Distribution 77,476        -                        
    k.Sanitary Sewer System 224,721      -                        
    l.Chilled Water System -              -                        
    m.Storm Water System -              -                        
    n.Energy Efficient Equipment -              -                        
Total Construction Costs 0 48,874,735 0 0 0 0 0

2. Other Project Costs
   a.Land/existing facility acquisition -                        
   b.Professional Fees 2,422,784   -                        
   c.Fire Marshall Fees 160,700      -                        
   d.Inspection Services 202,500      -                        
   e.Insurance Consultant -              -                        
   f.Surveys & Tests 200,000      -                        
   g.Permit/Impact/Environmental Fees 258,950      -                        
   h.Artwork 100,000      -                        
   i.Moveable Furnishings & Equipment 5,012,831   -                        
   j.Project Contingency 2,767,500   -                        
Total - Other Project Costs -                11,125,265 -             -                 -                 -                 -                        

ALL COSTS   1+2 0 60,000,000 0 0 0 0 0

Appropriations to Date Project Costs Beyond CIP Period Total Project In
Source Fiscal Year Amount Source Fiscal Year Amount CIP & Beyond

0

TOTAL -                TOTAL 0 0

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

42



 
 
 
 

Board of Governors 
Type I Campus Proposal 

University of Central Florida – UCF Downtown 
 

Appendix B 
 
 

City of Orlando Memorandum of Understanding 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

43



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

44



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

45



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

46



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

47



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

48



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

49



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

50



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

51



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

52



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

53



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

54



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

55



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

56



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

57



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

58



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

59



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

60



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

61



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

62



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

63



 
 
 
 

Board of Governors 
Type I Campus Proposal 

University of Central Florida – UCF Downtown 
 

Appendix C 
 
 

Sample Community Support and Letters 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

64



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

65



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

66



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

67



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

68



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

69



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

70



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

71



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

72



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

73



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

74



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

75



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

76



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

October 20, 2015 

 

State University System of Florida 

Board of Governors 

325 West Gaines Street 

Tallahassee, FL   32399 

 

Dear Governors:  

 

Orlando Health supports the campus proposed by the University of Central Florida (UCF) and Valencia College 

(Valencia) in downtown Orlando. Orlando Health is a $2.3 billion not-for-profit health care organization and a 

community-based network of physician practices, hospitals, and outpatient care centers throughout Central 

Florida. The organization is home to the area’s only Level One Trauma Centers for adults and pediatrics and is 

a statutory teaching hospital system. We serve as an economic engine as one of Central Florida’s largest 

employers with 15,000 team members and nearly 2,000 affiliated physicians focused on achieving the very best 

outcomes for our patients. Orlando Health serves nearly 2 million Central Florida residents and more than 4,500 

international patients annually.  

 

Orlando Health is committed to the education of Central Florida’s future workforce. In academic year 2013-14, 

there were 257 medical education residents at Orlando Health and over 314 medical education students that 

came through Orlando Health to train during medical school. In addition, Orlando Health trained 23 physician 

assistant students, 3,116 nursing students and over 2,143 allied health students. With the upcoming Florida 

Board of Governors consideration of the proposed UCF and Valencia downtown campuses, Orlando Health 

views such a move as positive for all organizations involved for the continuation of our established partnerships 

and the strengthening of opportunities for the students of UCF and Valencia. Our Orlando Health downtown 

campus will easily connect to the UCF and Valencia downtown campuses by SunRail and the adjacent I-4 

corridor. We see the potential for growth in the number of possible internships and expanded academic 

relationships given the close proximity to our downtown campus. This will provide UCF students in the 

selected areas of Health Care Informatics, Health Services Administration and Health Sciences with excellent 

opportunities for growth as students and as healthcare professionals after graduation. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
David Strong 

President & CEO 

Orlando Health 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

77



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

78



 
 
 
 

Board of Governors 
Type I Campus Proposal 

University of Central Florida – UCF Downtown 
 

Appendix D 
 
 

UCF and Valencia College Support Letters 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

79



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

80



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

81



 

 

 

 

October 19, 2015 

 

Dr. Sanford Shugart 
President 
Valencia College  
P.O. BOX 3028  
Orlando, Florida 32802 
 
Re: Letter of Assurance regarding UCF Downtown Academic Building  

Dear President Shugart: 
 
The University of Central Florida in partnership with Valencia College is striving to develop a 21st-
century campus in downtown Orlando. This full-service campus would be located on an 
approximately 15-acre site donated by the City of Orlando and include a new academic building, the 
renovation of an existing facility, student services, academic support, housing, parking, and recreation 
and health services.  
 
Our combined efforts will result in a world-class, best-in-the-nation site for academic and research 
innovation, collaborative partnerships, and community and industry engagement. UCF hereby 
assures Valencia College that any funding provided toward the project will be used to construct the 
new academic building in the heart of the downtown campus.  
 
The downtown campus expands UCF’s long-standing partnership with Valencia, which would relocate 
complementary programming and offer non-duplicated coursework. In addition to UCF course 
offerings, this new academic building will provide learning and faculty office space to support the full 
complement of courses required to receive a Valencia College associate’s degree. 
 
We recognize the opportunity for both UCF and Valencia to enhance access to degree attainment 
and quality of education through our DirectConnect to UCF program, and look forward to collaborative 
and collegial interactions between the administration, faculty, staff, and students of both institutions at 
the downtown campus. 
 
As part of this assurance, UCF and Valencia will work together to provide a shared lower-division 
strategy that eliminates course duplication. In addition, both institutions will create a common student 
experience that focuses on student success, working to further streamline the academic experience 
and transfer/transition process between institutions.  

 
Valencia will offer the lower-division courses at the downtown campus. UCF will provide specific 
downtown program prerequisites not offered by Valencia, and all downtown students will have access 
to and benefit from these courses. 

 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

82



 
October 19, 2015 
Letter of Assurance 
page two 

 
Academic leadership teams from UCF and Valencia are working together through an advisory 
committee to deliver this shared experience, including efforts to enhance curricula alignment and 
pedagogy across lower-division education for the betterment and success of our students.  
 
This committee, along with UCF and Valencia’s leadership, is committed to the success of this shared 
strategy, and agrees to an assurance of quality and evidence of preparedness for upper-division 
courses offered at the downtown campus.  
 
This joint assurance will include evaluations of lower-division learning outcomes by UCF and Valencia 
representatives every three years once the downtown campus opens to ensure all students’ success 
toward graduation. 
 
I look forward to reviewing the details with you in the near future. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
A. Dale Whittaker 
Provost and Executive Vice President 
University of Central Florida 
 
ADW:cd 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

83



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Addendum to Type 1 Campus Proposal
I. UCF Downtown By The Numbers
II. Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
III. UCF’s Impact as a Metropolitan Research University

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

84



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

I. UCF Downtown By The Numbers

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

85



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

By The Numbers

7,700 TOTAL STUDENTS

2,300  
Valencia students

5,400  
UCF students

Next  
Steps 1 Request BOG 

Type 1 approval 
in January

Legislature 
appropriates 
$20 million2 Executive 

office approves 
funding3 Campus opens 

in Fall 20184

14 9 Programs of 
Strategic Emphasis

Academic Programs

Health Services, Health Informatics, Digital Media and Game 
Design, Legal Studies, Communication, Social Work

1,800 UCF degrees 
awarded annually

Facilities

Funding for New Academic Building

Additional Project Investments

$20  
MILLION 

COMMUNITY 
SUPPORT

$20  
MILLION 

STATE 
 SUPPORT

$20  
MILLION 

UCF FUNDS

1 new  
academic 
building

Renovated 
Center for 
Emerging 

Media

750 beds 
for student 

housing

300 UCF beds
450 Developer beds

Valencia Culinary 
& Hospitality 

academic space

(new, privately developed)

1,800 parking 
spaces

 600 UCF 
600 Developer 

600 City of Orlando

PARTNER COMMITMENTS

Infrastructure  
Investment$25  

MILLION

Orange 
County $3  

MILLION

Valencia 
College$2  

MILLION

Estimated
Land Value$20  

MILLION

Private 
Developer  
Academic 
Space

$7.7  
MILLION

$22.5  
MILLION

Estimated
Building
Value

UCF

Academic ROI

1

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

86



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

II. Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

87



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q: WHY DOES UCF NEED ADDITIONAL ACADEMIC FACILITIES?
UCF, more so than other state universities, needs additional infrastructure to serve our students 
and faculty. We use existing facilities more efficiently to produce more degrees, at a lower cost than 
elsewhere in the SUS – while increasing quality. 

•  According to the most recent Board of Governors’ analysis, UCF’s overall space “deficit” is 2.2 million 
square feet – that’s equivalent to half the size of the University of Florida’s main campus.

•  Compared to our SUS partners, UCF awards more degrees and serves more students (FTE) per square 
foot than any other university in the state.

– UCF: 157 Square Feet / Degree Awarded — 58 Square Feet / FTE
– SUS: 297 Square Feet / Degree Awarded — 106 Square Feet / FTE

•  In addition to using space efficiently, UCF produces bachelor’s degrees at the lowest cost to the 
institution, while improving performance outcomes. UCF continues to rank in the top 3 institutions 
each year in the Board of Governors’ performance metrics, which include degrees awarded, retention, 
and graduation rates. 

Building downtown will provide UCF and the state with the best return on investment because of the 
type of facility we are constructing, and the academic programs we have slated to relocate downtown.

•  New facilities could serve more students by leveraging technology to increase efficiencies, offering 
mixed learning modes to reduce seat time, and building collaborative or flexible spaces.

Q: WHY IS UCF CONSIDERING A PRESENCE DOWNTOWN?
Anchoring a higher education institution in a downtown area provides students with broader 
educational experiences, more opportunities for engagement, and relevant internship and 
experiential learning possibilities – all of which lead to higher student success rates – while serving 
the needs of the region. 

•  Surveys and data from the Coalition of Urban Serving Universities, of which UCF is a member, provide 
evidence of the vast majority of urban campuses partnering with nonprofit organizations, local school 
districts, public health agencies, area small businesses, and local governments/community agencies.

•  Example: Portland State University Community-University partnership results in more than 400 
businesses and organizations working with PSU students and faculty annually; students volunteered 
1.4 million hours in one year, worth $25 million to the metropolitan region.

Location matters for metropolitan research universities, because UCF defines its mission in part as 
contributing to the social and economic progress of our community.

•  Built as planned and with other investments occurring in conjunction with the downtown campus, the 
project promises substantive economic and fiscal benefits, according to an updated economic impact 
analysis by GAI Consultants, Inc.

•  Continuing activities stemming from this planned investment will generate $205 million in gross 
economic income in a typical year across the state and local economies.

•  This output is associated with more than 2,000 and $90 million direct, indirect, and induced jobs and 
wages, respectively. As well, there will be significant gross fiscal benefits each and every year flowing to 
the state and various local governments.

1

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

88



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Our experience with location-based education at the Rosen College of Hospitality Management in the 
heart of Orlando’s tourism corridor supports this type of engagement and shows us that this model is 
a success. We expect similar results in downtown Orlando.

•  100% of Rosen College’s 2,800 undergraduate students complete at least three internships in related 
fields prior to graduating.

•  Since relocating to the International Drive area, the Rosen College’s enrollment has more than 
doubled from 1,308 in 2004, and the number of its students in co-op or internship courses has 
grown from about 520 to 2,800.

•  Not only have businesses been able to support our growing student population’s internship needs, 
they’re hiring our students. 

–  2013-2014 Rosen College survey data showed more than 90% of students were employed in a field 
related to their study upon graduation. 

Q:  DID UCF SELECT PROGRAMS THAT WOULD BE ENHANCED BY THE  
DOWNTOWN ENVIRONMENT?
UCF Downtown builds upon the industry strengths in the immediate area, and will provide students 
with relevant learning, work, and engagement opportunities that benefit their academic experience 
and career readiness. 

•  In designing the campus, a team of faculty and university leaders only recommended relocating full 
academic programs that would benefit the academic and student experience by being downtown. 

•  One measure is industry data for the surrounding UCF Downtown location, indicating higher 
concentrations of businesses and organizations affiliated with the degree programs we intend to 
relocate downtown.

INDUSTRY UCF MAIN CAMPUS AREA UCF DOWNTOWN AREA

Communications 36 96

Government 27 414

Legal Studies 31 768

Health Services and Social 
Assistance 279 884

Data provided by Orlando Economic Development Commission of companies and/or organizations by NAIC and SIC codes for zip codes 32817, 32826, 
32828, and 32825 (UCF Main Campus Area), and 32801, 32803, 32804, and 32806 (UCF Downtown Campus Area).

The academic programs also have synergies with our partners at Valencia, and other nearby 
educational institutions, such as the new Orange County PK-8 school being built across the street, the 
FAMU Law School, and the OCPS technical school several blocks away providing training in digital 
media, technology, and healthcare.

2

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

89



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q: WILL THE DOWNTOWN CAMPUS PREPARE STUDENTS FOR EMPLOYMENT? 
We know the programs selected to relocate downtown will help meet our mission of access,  
as well as the state’s mission of awarding more degrees annually and aligning academic programs  
with job demands. 

•  Of the top 100 recent job openings in the state that require some level of higher education, more  
than a quarter are associated with the programs relocating downtown. (Florida DEO, Bureau of  
Labor Statistics)

–  These include media and communication workers; counselors, social workers, and social service 
specialists; legal support workers; and health technologists and technicians.

•  Projections for regional workforce need show several professions associated with the degrees 
offered at UCF Downtown will exceed the national average, including paralegals and legal assistants, 
multimedia artists, and graphic designers. (May 2013 Metropolitan and Nonmetropolitan Area 
Occupational Employment and Wage Estimates  — Florida DEO)

Projected Degree Production at UCF Downtown in Academic Year 2018-19

TYPE OF DEGREE PROJECTED DEGREES AWARDED

Strategic Emphasis Degrees 1,155

Non-Strategic Emphasis Degrees 685

Total Degrees 1,840

We know students who have engaged in our location-based programs, are finding employment 
relevant to their study upon graduation. 

•  2013-2014 Rosen College survey data showed more than 90% of students were employed in a field 
related to their study upon graduation. 

•  UCF’s graduate video game design school, the Florida Interactive Entertainment Academy, is the 
No. 2-ranked school in North America by The Princeton Review, and is located at the existing Center 
for Emerging Media in the heart of downtown Orlando’s booming technology industry. Its graduates 
earn an average salary of more than $60,000 with an 85% job placement rate in fields such as design, 
programming, and digital arts.

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

3

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

90



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q: HOW MANY STUDENTS WILL BE ENROLLED DOWNTOWN?
The campus will serve about 7,700 from UCF and Valencia College on Day 1. About 5,400 of the 
students will be enrolled in UCF degree programs relocating to the downtown campus.

•  UCF’s enrollment projection includes a mix of face-to-face and online instruction. 
•  About 4,300 students (80% of 5,400) will engage in face-to-face instruction on the campus over the 

course of an academic year, based on current student behavior. 
–  The remaining 20% of students taking only online courses are mainly from two academic programs:

♦ Health Services Administration bachelor’s program enrolls 45% of students fully online, and
♦  Health Informatics and Information Management master’s program enrolls 100% online — 

but is fewer than 80 students. 

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

4

2,300 
Valencia 
students

5,400 
UCF students

4,300 
Face-to-face

1,100 
Online

Projected Student Enrollment

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

91



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q:  WHY IS UCF INCLUDING STUDENTS WHO TAKE 100% ONLINE COURSES IN ITS 
DOWNTOWN ENROLLMENT PROJECTIONS? 
Students are not admitted to UCF undergraduate programs by modality — more simply stated,  
they do not apply to be an “online” student or a “face-to-face” student — they apply to be a UCF 
student. They are free to choose courses, regardless of location or delivery mode, that best help them 
complete their degree. 

•  For example, in the Fall 2015 at our main campus, 43.6% of students took face-to-face instruction, 
16.2% took courses fully online and, 37.2% took a mixture of online and face-to-face. 

•  The Fall 2015 data is just a semester snap shot — not a full academic year — and does not represent a 
student’s degree path. Students could take all online courses one semester and all face-to-face courses 
the following semester — or a mix of both types of instruction in any semester.

•  In 2014-2015, only 2.5% (or 305 students) of all bachelor’s degrees awarded by UCF were to students 
who only took online courses to complete their degree. This data show that students take multiple 
modalities during their time at UCF.

These programs are fully relocating downtown. The faculty, department resources, student advising, 
and other offices will be moving – and the students will still be engaged and on the campus, even if 
they are not taking face-to-face instruction. 

•  Students who are taking at least 75% online courses are equally engaged on the main campus, and in 
academic and other university activities. 

•  Of the current students in the programs slated to relocate downtown, those enrolled in at least 75% 
online instruction: 

– Used the on-campus recreation center at nearly the same rate; and
– Engaged with on-campus student organizations at nearly the same rate.

•  Even fully online students are engaging in student organizations and campus programs. Almost 30% 
of all fully online students in programs slated for downtown engaged in tracked on-campus student 
organization events and activities in 2014-15 — only a few percentage points lower than majority face-
to-face students. 

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

5

44.2% 
Face-to-face

36.7% 
Online and-
Face-to-face

16.8% 
Fully Online

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

92



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q:  THE BOG ANALYSIS IS CRITICAL OF THE ENROLLMENT PROJECTIONS. WHY ARE THE 
NUMBERS DIFFERENT?
UCF’s Year 1 projections for the downtown campus are based upon Fall 2018 enrollment figures, with 
2% annual growth. The subsequent BOG staff analysis, however, looked at current enrollment in 
these programs over three semesters in 2014-15 — a different time period, and not taking into account 
projected growth.

UCF Downtown Campus Enrollment Projections — Distance Learning Impact

PROGRAM YEAR 1 (FALL 18)

YEAR 1 (FALL 18)
FACE-TO-FACE 
CAMPUS 
PROJECTIONS*

BOG STAFF 
ANALYSIS 2014-15 
UNDUPLICATED
NON-DISTANCE 
LEARNING  
(75% DEFINITION)

B Human Communication 850 725 522

B Legal Studies 755 637 404

B Social Work 384 380 344

B Digital Media 884 862 719

B Emerging Media; Character Animation 45 44 493

B Health Services Administration 1,445 798 189

B Health Informatics and Information Management 149 127 20

M Communication 60 54 83

M Social Work 303 286 234

M Digital Media; Interactive Entertainment 128 127 119

M Health Sciences 298 251 247

M Health Informatics and Information Management 82 - -

Total 5,383 4,290 3,374
*Student is enrolled in at least one face-to-face course across the academic year. Data excludes regional campuses.

The BOG staff analysis defined students who took 75% or more of their courses online as distance 
learners who would not be engaged at the downtown campus. However, the UCF Year 1 projections 
include students taking at least one face-to-face course with their online offerings; these students 
would consequently be present and engaged on the campus. 

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

6

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

93



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

Q: HOW MANY STUDENTS CAN UCF ACCOMMODATE IN THE DOWNTOWN FACILITIES?
We’re building a campus to accommodate the enrollment we project based upon our students’ current 
course-taking behavior in these academic programs and the necessary student support services, while 
allowing for future growth.

•  We see flexibility in the number of students who can be accommodated on Day 1, dependent upon 
varying levels of face-to-face instruction, mixed mode, and online instruction. 

•  This will be a facility that could serve more students through the use of technology, mixed learning 
modes, and collaborative or flexible spaces — which likely will be driven by student demand in  
online offerings.

•  Building downtown will provide UCF and the state with the best return on investment because of the 
type of facility we are constructing and the academic programs we have slated to relocate downtown. 

Q:  WHY IS UCF BUILDING HOUSING AND OTHER STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES AT THE 
DOWNTOWN CAMPUS?
UCF Downtown will provide students with a full campus experience, including housing and student 
services, such as recreation and wellness, health, and advising, along with other engagement 
opportunities similar to the offerings on our main campus. Students downtown also will be able to 
take advantage of the many cultural and engagement opportunities in the immediate area, such as 
museums, performing arts centers, and community support or volunteer operations. 

•  The four-year graduation rate for students who live at least one year in UCF-managed housing is 10.2% 
higher than for those students who do not. We will focus on the academic value and affordability of 
downtown housing  — not the amenities — and rates will be comparable to those on the main campus.

•  UCF intends to partner with a private developer, who will build approximately 450 beds on the site to 
be operated by the university, in addition to university-built and operated housing.

Response to BOG Staff Questions and Discussion
ADDENDUM TO TYPE 1 CAMPUS PROPOSAL

7

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

94



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

III. UCF’s Impact as a Metropolitan Research University

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

95



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

I. WHAT CHARACTERIZES A METROPOLITAN RESEARCH UNIVERSITY?
A metropolitan university is “an institution that accepts all of higher education’s traditional values in 
teaching, research, and professional service, but takes upon itself the additional responsibility of providing 
leadership to its metropolitan region by using its human and financial responsibilities to improve the region’s 
quality of life” (Mullhollan, 1995:1).

A metropolitan research university is different than other educational institutions because of the 
constituencies it serves, the partnerships it develops, and the academic and research programs it 
provides to best serve its surroundings.

In the past quarter century, universities are increasingly seen as “anchor institutions,” whose “physical 
presence is integral to the social, cultural, and economic wellbeing of the community. Urban-based 
universities in particular have recognized the many challenges facing their – and the nation’s – cities. 

“Understanding that their fortunes are tied in part to those of their neighbors and physical surroundings, 
many have expanded their efforts to engage new partners,” such as government, businesses, health care 
systems, public schools, and non-profit organizations, “and address pressing community issues. In the 
process, they are broadening the education of students, improving neighborhoods and cities, helping 
strengthen other anchor institutions, and informing and advancing the larger society” (Coalition of 
Urban Serving Universities, 2014:1). 

For metropolitan research universities, location does matter because these universities define their 
missions in part as contributing to the social and economic progress of the regions where they are located. 

II. UCF’S MISSION AS A METROPOLITAN RESEARCH UNIVERSITY
The University of Central Florida anchors the Central Florida city-state in meeting its economic, cultural, 
intellectual, environmental, and societal needs by providing high-quality, broad-based education and 
experience-based learning; pioneering scholarship and impactful research; and highly relevant continuing 
education and public service initiatives that address pressing local, state, national, and international issues. 

In doing so, UCF is committed to the region and the state’s efforts to attract, retain, and grow our 
innovation economy by building quality research and academic programs in areas that impact existing 
and emerging industry clusters in our region and across the state, and by partnering with innovative 
companies and others in the region to advance this mission. 

UCF’s Impact as a Metropolitan Research University

1

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

96



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

The university is equally focused on fostering a highly skilled talent pipeline for present and future 
workforce needs, and lifting the lives and livelihoods of those in our community through access to a high-
quality and affordable education that provides people with new opportunities for social and economic 
wellbeing. 

III. UCF’S IMPACT IN THE REGION AND STATE
UCF employs more than 11,000 faculty and staff members. The university impacts more than 112,000 
additional jobs and adds $7.73 billion of value to the economy, according to a 2009-10 study by the Florida 
Board of Governors. Yet the university’s impact goes far beyond payroll, goods, and services. 

Many approaches to measuring a university’s economic impact have focused on “public universities as the 
primary producers of public knowledge, such as strengthening technology transfer programs, encouraging 
university-industry partnerships, and tailoring educational curricula to match the skill demands of 
knowledge-based industries” (Goldstein & Drucker, 2006:22).

Some examples of UCF’s distinctive impact in the region and the state include:

Business Incubation and Economic Gardening: 
Since 1999, the UCF Business Incubation Program has assisted more than 350 early-stage companies 
that have sustained nearly 3,700 jobs throughout Central Florida, with a total regional economic output of 
$2.48 billion. This program is a university-driven, community partnership between UCF; the Florida High 
Tech Corridor Council; Orange, Osceola, Seminole, and Volusia counties; and the cities of Apopka, Kissimmee, 
Orlando, and Winter Springs. In the past fiscal year, this publicly funded program returned $7.95 for every  
$1 invested. 

Additionally, the UCF-based economic gardening project, GrowFL, has assisted companies that represent 
over 14,000 direct jobs across the state. In 2013-14, GrowFL helped generate an estimated 3,545 net new 
direct, indirect, and induced jobs, which contributed more than $547 million to Florida’s economy and 
generated an additional $18.34 million in total state and local tax revenues (above the cost of the program). 

Research Centers and Patents:
UCF researchers earned $133.4 million in external funding in 2014-15, with the Department of Defense, 
National Science Foundation, and NASA as top funding sources. UCF has earned the Carnegie Foundation 
classification of a “very high research activity” university  — alongside institutions such as Harvard, Stanford, 
Johns Hopkins, and MIT – and participates in numerous research partnerships and consortia across the state, 
and the nation. 

Among its internationally recognized centers are: 
•  the Institute for Simulation and Training, which supports the region’s $5 billion modeling, 

simulation, and training industry; 
•  the Center for Research and Education in Optics and Lasers (CREOL), along with the Florida 

Photonics Center of Excellence and Townes Laser Institute, is developing the next generation of 
laser applications in medicine, advanced manufacturing, and defense; and

•  the Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences, which anchors the Lake Nona Medical City with the UCF 
College of Medicine, Nemours, the VA Medical Center, a University of Florida academic and research 
center, and Sanford Burnham Prebys Medical Discovery Center. 

UCF’s Impact as a Metropolitan Research University

2

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

97



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

In the past decade, UCF has shown remarkable progress in the strength of its patents, earning more than 
600 U.S.-issued patents since 2005. UCF consistently ranks among the top 25 universities in the world for 
number of patents. 

Education and Economic Development Partnerships: 
Florida’s three largest urban research universities, serving more than 60% of the state university system 
(SUS) population and 70% of Florida’s SUS minority population, are working in partnership to help more 
students graduate from college while boosting economic development around the state.

Launched in 2014, the Florida Consortium of Metropolitan Research Universities’ three members are 
UCF, the University of South Florida in Tampa, and Florida International University in Miami, committed to 
working together to:

•  Fuel the state economy by providing combined leadership, expertise, capital, land, resources, and training 
to build a strong workforce;

•  Increase the number of graduates in high-demand areas by expanding access to degrees and improving 
college completion rates; and

•  Increase the number of under-represented and limited-income students graduating with skills and 
credentials required by Florida’s employers. 

The Florida Consortium of Metropolitan Research Universities’ collective 2018 goals include:
•  Increasing the number of baccalaureate degrees awarded annually by 12 percentage points,  

adding 3,660 degrees;
•  Increase the 6-year, first-time-in-college graduate rate for minority students by 4 percentage  

points to 67%;
•  Increase the number of graduates employed or continuing education in Florida by 3 percentage  

points to 79%; and
• Increase the salaries that our graduates earn in the workplace by 10% to an average of $39,072. 

References:
Coalition of Urban Serving Universities. (2014). The foundational role of universities as anchor institutions 

in urban development: A report of national data and survey findings. Washington, DC: Author.

Goldstein, H., & Drucker, J. (2006). The economic development impacts of universities on regions: Do size
and distance matter? Economic Development Quarterly, 20, 22-43.

Mulhollan, P. E. (1995). Aligning missions with public expectations: The case of the metropolitan universities.
In D. M. Johnson & D. A. Bell (Eds.), Metropolitan universities: An emerging model in American higher 
education (p. 27-36). Denton: University of North Texas Press.

UCF’s Impact as a Metropolitan Research University

3

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

98



UCF DOWNTOWN

U C F . E D U / D O W N T O W N

•  More than 20,000 students annually gain practical experience through co-ops, internships, and service-
learning projects. 

•  UCF awarded nearly 2,000 baccalaureate degrees in STEM fields in 2014-15, the third-largest number 
in the State University System. Top STEM degrees awarded were Health Sciences, Biomedical Sciences, and 
Mechanical Engineering.

•  Career Services helped about 30,000 students search and compete for jobs in 2013-14. One-on-one 
sessions and workshops cover topics such as resumes, interviewing and negotiating, and several hundred 
employers visited campus to recruit students. 

•  The Blackstone LaunchPad helps students transform entrepreneurial ideas into businesses through free 
one-on-one coaching, workshops, and other resources. UCF’s LaunchPad has provided advice to more 
than 900 student ventures since opening in Fall 2013. 

•  The UCF-Lockheed Martin Work Experience Program trains more than 550 students a year, most 
from engineering and business. About 60% of the participants who graduated in 2013 received full-time job 
offers from Lockheed Martin.

•  UCF students graduate in high-demand areas, and our latest data on degrees awarded shows business, 
health professions, and engineering in the top five fields.

Top 10 Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded, 2013-14

DEGREE # OF DEGREES % OF TOTAL

Business, Management, Marketing and Related Programs 2,905 23%

Health Professions and Related Programs 1,817 14%

Psychology 1,113 9%

Education 1,091 9%

Engineering 789 6%

Multi/Interdisciplinary Studies 648 5%

Biology and Biomedical Sciences 630 5%

Social Sciences 604 5%

Communication, Journalism and Related Programs 590 5%

Visual and Performing Arts 507 4%

Preparing Students for the Workforce

4

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

99



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Analysis: 
University of Central Florida Proposal for a Downtown Campus 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 16, 2016 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

100



2  

Contents 
 

 
The University of Central Florida Proposal, the Board Staff Analysis, and 

the University of Central Florida Addendum to its Proposal .......................3 

Project Scope and Purpose ...................................................................................3 
 

Project Operational Costs, Capital Costs, and Revenues...............................4 
 

Project Priority ........................................................................................................6 
 

Need and Demand .................................................................................................7 
 

Meeting Enrollments .............................................................................................7 
 

Initial Enrollment Projections ................................................................................................. 8 
 

Appropriateness of Moving Certain Programs ................................................................. 11 
 

Current Provision of Programs at Other Geographic Locations ..................................... 12 
 

Enrollments Associated with Distance Learning............................................................... 13 
 

Internship Availability and Requirements ......................................................................... 14 
 

Academic and Research Synergies ...................................................................16 
 

Appendix I: UCF Geographic Coverage Near Downtown Orlando ..........17 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

101



3  

The University of Central Florida Proposal, the Board Staff Analysis, and 
the University of Central Florida Addendum to its Proposal 

 
On October 20, 2015 the University of Central Florida (UCF) submitted a proposal for 
requesting a Type I Downtown Campus, in time to place its request on the Board of 
Governors November 2015 agenda. The Board of Governors staff produced an analysis 
of the proposal in which it raised a number of questions, particularly with regard to the 
critical issue of enrollment projections. This staff analysis was shared with the UCF 
administration. Subsequently, UCF requested and received approval to have its request 
tabled until the January 2016 meeting of the Board of Governors. On December 4, 2015, 
UCF submitted an addendum to its proposal. 

 
UCF’s December 4, 2015 addendum provides a clarification of UCF’s mission as a 
metropolitan university and its impact in the region and the state as well as a rationale 
for the following items: 

 

 

 additional academic facilities, 

 enrollment projections and how many students UCF can accommodate at 

the Downtown Campus, 

 a presence in downtown Orlando, 
 the selection of the academic programs that UCF believes would be 

enhanced by the downtown Orlando environment, 

 the prospects of preparing students for employment due to the 
Downtown Campus environment, 

 inclusion of students who take 100% online courses in its Downtown 
Campus enrollment projections, and 

 the reason that UCF proposes building housing and other support services 
at the Downtown Campus, 

 
Several questions raised in the Board’s October 30, 2015 staff analysis have not been 
addressed by UCF’s December 4, 2015 addendum, and the additional information 
provided by UCF with regard to enrollments continues, in the opinion of Board staff, to 
raise questions. 

 

 

For the sake of convenience to the reader, the UCF addendum is provided directly 
following this staff analysis. The Board of Governors is urged to review the original 
UCF proposal, this staff analysis, and the proposal’s December 4, 2015 addendum. 

 

Project Scope and Purpose 
The UCF proposal indicates that the Downtown Campus would transform the 
University’s current downtown offerings by strategically relocating academic programs 
from the main campus. The University maintains that the proposed relocation would 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

102



4  

create a world-class site for digital media, communication, public service, and health- 
related programs in an innovative urban environment. UCF’s existing Center for 
Emerging Media would anchor the site for the Downtown Campus expansion. The 
Center for Emerging Media is currently home to UCF’s Master’s in Interactive 
Entertainment offered by the Florida Interactive Entertainment Academy. The 
Academy is cited as the number two ranked video gaming graduate school in North 
America. 

 
Enhancement of collaboration between UCF and Valencia College is envisioned at the 
Downtown Campus. The proposal projects that a partnership with Valencia College at 
the Downtown Campus will enable students to earn a bachelor’s degree at 
approximately $6,000 less in terms of tuition than the State University System (SUS) 
average tuition. 

 
The proposal anticipates that moving programs to a Downtown Campus would free up 
needed space on UCF’s main campus. This forecast, however, is predicated on meeting 
enrollment projections, and the subject of accurate enrollment estimates is addressed 
later in this staff analysis. 

 
The proposal indicates that Downtown Orlando has more than 74,000 jobs and this 
provides potential opportunities for students and graduates. If this estimate of jobs is 
accurate, it is not clear whether these are all unfilled jobs and whether these are jobs that 
would be targeted toward graduates from the Downtown Campus programs. 

 
The UCF proposal indicates that the Downtown Campus would provide greater 
opportunity for degree attainment in a historically underserved area.  UCF indicates 
that degree attainment in downtown Orlando is lower than the averages of the 
surrounding area and that, while downtown Orlando matches national degree 
production figures, degree attainment in the specific area associated with the 
Downtown Campus site lags behind the county and the city surrounding it. 

 
Regarding the question of purpose, the Board of Governors should consider the 
primary question of whether the overall project is a response to an unmet demand for 
postsecondary education, economic development, or both.  Regarding the question of 
scope, UCF’s downtown Center for Emerging Media appears to be currently under- 
utilized.  If this is the case, the Board of Governors should consider whether building 
more infrastructure downtown is desirable. 

 

Project Operational Costs, Capital Costs, and Revenues 
First year operational costs are estimated to be $44,456,804.  These dollars would be 
comprised of Education and General funding ($34,928,143) and Contracts and Auxiliary 
funding ($9,528,661).  Year One revenues are projected to total $45,059,159. 
Approximately 61% of Year One revenue dollars would be associated with tuition, 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

103



5  

tuition differential, and out-of-state student tuition fees. This is why it is imperative 
that enrollment projections are met. The Downtown Campus is estimated to have 
$602,532, or 2%, operating net revenues over net expenses in Year One.  This trend is 
also true for Years Two through Five, with net revenues over net expenses of 3% for 
each of those years. 

 
Capital costs totaling $60M would be associated with the addition of one new academic 
building. One third of these dollars, $20M, would require approval of PECO funding 
by the Board of Governors, the Florida Legislature, and the Governor. Additional 
unspecified costs would be associated with renovation of the Center for Emerging 
Media facility. UCF indicated to Board staff that it does not plan to ask for additional 
funds related to the Downtown Campus in the 5-year planning horizon. If the project 
proves to be successful, however, additional capital costs may surface beyond that time 
period. 

 
A second third of the $60M would be associated with funds provided by UCF. The 
proposal does not provide specific information as to the source of these funds. The final 
third of the necessary funding would be sought from private sources, such as 
donations. 

 
Ancillary development would include housing, parking, and a new combined heat and 
power plant.  A new UCF housing facility consisting of 300 beds is estimated to cost 
$20M. A new parking facility and heat and power plant is estimated to cost 
$15M. Construction of these facilities would require bonding authority. Other 
Downtown Campus infrastructure costs include shuttle service to the main campus, 
safety and security costs, telecommunications resources for the Downtown Campus, 
and library services costs. 

 
Whether or not students are full-time or part-time may have a bearing on the extent to 
which they would take advantage of dormitory living.  Table One below indicates the 
percentage of Spring 2015 part-time students enrolled in the UCF programs proposed 
for relocation. 

 
Table One: Percentage of Spring 2015 Part-time Students Enrolled in 

Programs Proposed for Relocation 
 Bachelor’s Master’s 
Digital Arts 36% 0% 
Health Information Management 50% 76% 
Health Professions and Related Programs 27% 50% 
Health Services Administration 48%  

Legal Assisting 27%  

Social Work, General 30% 25% 
Speech Communication and Rhetoric 26% 49% 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

104



6  

 

Studio/Fine Art (Character Animation*) 30% 13% 
Total 32% 1 

Source: State University Data System 
* The percent part-time for the Character Animation major under Studio/Fine Art cannot be calculated 
separately. 
1 The master’s degree is not moving downtown. 

 
Similarly, students’ ages may affect their likelihood for taking advantage of dormitory 
living.  Table Two below provides the average age of Spring 2015 students enrolled in 
UCF programs proposed for relocation. 

 
 
 

Table Two: Average Age of Spring 2015 Students Enrolled in UCF Programs 
Proposed for Relocation 

 Bachelor’s Master’s 
Digital Arts 23 26 

Health Information Management 29 30 
Health Professions and Related Programs 22 29 

Health Services Administration 26  

Legal Assisting 25  

Social Work, General 28 30 
Speech Communication and Rhetoric 23 28 
Studio/Fine Art (Character Animation* )1 23 2 

Source: State University Data System 
* The average age for the Character Animation major under Studio/Fine Art cannot be calculated separately. 
1 Only one major under this CIP is moving downtown and the UCF proposal addresses that. 
2  The master’s level program is not moving downtown. 

 

Project Priority 
The priority of the UCF Downtown Campus as compared to other System priorities 
should be a consideration for the Board of Governors. The State University System is in 
the process of building out a 12th university. It is understood from Florida Polytechnic 
University leadership that future capital and operational investments will be inevitable. 
Given the criticality of success for Florida Polytechnic as an SUS priority, and given 
finite resources, the Board of Governors should consider the extent to which the UCF 
Downtown Campus can be considered as a System priority. Other priorities of 
longstanding include Florida State University’s Earth Ocean Atmospheric Sciences 
Building, the University of Florida’s remodeling of Norman Hall, Florida Atlantic 
University’s renovation and addition to the Jupiter Research Building, Florida 
International University’s satellite chiller plant expansion, and the University of West 
Florida’s Laboratory Sciences Annex. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

105



7  

Need and Demand 
The proposal states that the programs to be relocated to the Downtown Campus will 
build on downtown Orlando’s creative technology economy as well as its growing 
health care sector, where greater than average job growth is projected to transpire 
through 2022 according to industry and U.S. Department of Labor projections. UCF 
indicates that the programs proposed for relocation have experienced growth exceeding 
nearly 22%. 

 
The proposal states that employment demand is strong and growing fast in Orlando, 
which was recently ranked by Forbes’ magazine as one of the nation’s best cities for 
future job growth. In particular, UCF cites the growth in demand for graduates in 
health informatics, and digital media. UCF indicates that five of the fields that map to 
the degree programs proposed for relocation to the Downtown Campus are included on 
the 2014-15 Regional Demand Occupations List for Lake, Orange, Osceola, Seminole, 
and Sumter counties. 

 

Meeting Enrollments 
The proposal is enthusiastic with regard to meeting estimated enrollments. The Board 
of Governors should be clear as to the Memorandum of Understanding between the 
City of Orlando and UCF containing a statement that all deeds for transfer of the 
property shall contain a reversion clause requiring, in part, that the Downtown Campus 
serve a minimum number of students, to be agreed upon by both parties.  It is unclear if 
this minimum number of students has been set, or how it relates to the UCF Year One 
5,395 students projected in the proposal. UCF did not respond to this issue in its 
December 4, 2015 addendum. 

 
The following excerpt is provided from pages 7 and 8 of the minutes from the February 

19, 2015 Board of Governors meeting at Tallahassee Community College: 
 

Members asked about the projected $45 million in projected philanthropic 

contributions, particularly whether those funds would be in addition to 

contributions sought for the main campus. Questions were also raised about the 

$22.5 million value being placed on the land the City of Orlando currently leases 

to UCF for $1.00 per year, which is subject to a reverter clause. President Hitt 

assured members the $45 million in philanthropic contributions will be solely 

related to the downtown campus. While President Hitt acknowledged the logic 

for valuing the City’s contribution at $1.00 per year based on UCF’s lease, he said 

the City stepped up when UCF needed the help and contributed $4 million in 

renovation costs to the existing building. Chair Hosseini remarked that they 

need to look at the lease and the reverter clause. He emphasized the need for a 

clean title from the City when UCF returns for approval of the campus as a new 

educational site. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

106



8  

Realizing enrollments entails a complex interplay between (1) the initial accuracy of 
enrollment projections, (2) considerations as to which programs would be most 
appropriate to relocate, (3) the choice of programs to move downtown that are currently 
being offered at regional campuses, (4) the choice of programs to move downtown that 
are currently being offered wholly or in part online, and (5) realistic prospects for 
internships in general, as well as specifically for those programs that require an 
internship as part of program requirements. The Board of Governors should carefully 
consider the interplay among these considerations, and, therefore, each is articulated in 
the sections below. 

 
Initial Enrollment Projections 
The proposal indicates that the completion of the Downtown Campus would allow the 
UCF Downtown Campus to reach a Year One critical mass of more than 7,500 students, 
5,395 of whom would be UCF students and 2,303 of whom would be Valencia College 
students enrolled at the lower level. Table Three below provides the proposal’s 
estimates of UCF headcount and FTE enrollments for Years One and Five. The Table 
breaks out these projections by undergraduate and graduate offerings. In this table, 
projections are in the aggregate as opposed to being broken out by individual 
programs. 

 
Table Three: Years One and Five Projected UCF Downtown Campus Enrollment 

  

HEADCOUNT FTE 
 

Undergraduate 
Year 1 4,512 3,288 
Year 5 4,885 3,560 

 

Graduate 
Year 1 883 505 
Year 5 955 546 

Source: UCF Downtown Campus Proposal 

 
Table Four below provides more specificity as to UCF enrollment projections. Here, the 
projections are broken out by individual programs. Year One headcount and FTE 
projections are provided for each proposed academic offering, as well as the 
percentages of the whole that each represents. 

 
Table Four: Degree Programs Proposed for Movement, 

UCF Year One Headcount and FTE Estimates, 
And Percentages of the Whole 

Program HDCT FTE % HDCT % FTE 

B Human Communication 850 858 16% 23% 
B Legal Studies 755 445 14% 12% 
B Social Work 384 222 7% 6% 
B Digital Media 884 455 16% 12% 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

107



9  

 

BFA Emerging Media; Character 
Animation 

 

45 
 

23 
 

1% 
 

1% 

B Health Services Administration 1,445 1,165 27% 31% 
B Health Informatics and 
Information Management 

 

149 
 

120 
 

3% 
 

3% 

M Communication 60 22 1% 1% 
M Social Work 303 254 6% 7% 
M Digital Media and Interactive 
Entertainment 

 

128 
 

67 
 

2% 
 

2% 

M Health Sciences 298 124 5% 3% 
M Health Care Informatics 82 34 2% 1% 
Graduate Certificate: Corporate 
Communication 

 

12 
 

3 
 

0% 
 

0% 

Graduate Certificate: Military 
Social Work 

 

0 
 

0 
 

0% 
 

0% 

Total 5,395 3,792 100% 100% 
Source: HDCT and FTE: UCF Downtown Campus Proposal 
% HDCT and % FTE: calculated by Board of Governors Staff 
(Percentage columns are added to equal 100%. Percentages may not add to 100% due 
to rounding.) 

 
The Board of Governors should question the extent to which enrollments at the UCF 
Downtown location may be optimistic, because they appear to be based on past 
enrollments at the six digit Classification of Instructional Program (CIP) Code level, 
which includes all majors being offered under the CIP. However, some of the 
“programs” proposed to be offered downtown appear to be a single major embedded 
with other majors under the same CIP code based upon a review of the UCF program 
website, and not all of the majors in the CIP appear to be moving downtown. As one 
example, The Bachelor of Arts in Human Communication appears to be a major under 
CIP 09.0101, along with Advertising/Public Relations, and Communication and 
Conflict. However, enrollment projections for the Bachelor of Arts in Human 
Communication at the Downtown Campus appear to be based on all three majors 
under the same CIP code, rather than just the one. Therefore, the enrollment projection 
for Human Communication risks being over-estimated. UCF did not respond to this 
issue in its December 4, 2015 addendum. 

 
The proposal and the addendum to the proposal imply that because the entire program 
is being relocated downtown, the students enrolled in the program will also be located 
downtown. While the students may in fact visit the downtown campus for some face- 
to-face courses, advising, testing, and campus activities, it should be noted that the 
percentage of students who appear to be taking most of their coursework at regional 
campuses or through distance learning is significant. Also, as expected with the UCF 
distributed instruction model, a significant number of students are taking courses at 
multiple campuses and/or through distance learning. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

108



10  

Board staff calculated which students were predominately main campus students, 
regional campus students, or distance learning students by analyzing course-level data 
reported by UCF for the 2014-2015 Academic Year. The threshold used for this analysis 
was where or how students took 75 percent of their courses. The rationale for using this 
threshold was that students who were predominantly taking courses at Cocoa or Palm 
Bay would not likely be able to commute or relocate and take their courses at the 
proposed downtown Orlando location. Similarly a predominately distance learning 
student might visit the campus less frequently than one who was predominately taking 
classroom courses. The proposal and the addendum do not make clear what impact 
this distributed enrollment pattern might have on the ability of the Downtown Campus 
to anchor the Creative Village redevelopment project, or how it might impact the need 
for new facilities. 

 

 

Table Five compares the number of current students enrolled in the relocated programs 
who were found to be taking 75 percent of their coursework at the main campus with 
the Fall 2018 enrollment projections in the UCF Downtown Campus proposal. The 
primary question the analysis raised is whether the projected Downtown Campus 
enrollment of 5,383 students is realistic considering that only 3,374 of the current 
students are predominately main campus students, and the remainder are either 
predominately regional campus, distance learning, or multiple campus students. 

 
 
 

Table Five: Comparison of 2014-15 Enrollments 
On the UCF Main Campus 

And Year One Downtown Campus Enrollment Projections 
 

 

Program 

2014-15 Students who 

took 75% of their courses 

on UCF Main Campus 

UCF’s Year One 

Downtown Campus 

Enrollment Projections 

B Human Communication 
(80 – 90 % courses available online) 

522 850 

B Legal Studies 404 755 

B Social Work 344 384 

B Digital Media 719 884 

B Emerging Media; 

Character Animation 
493 45 

B Health Services 

Administration 
(also available 100% online) 

 

189 
 

1,445 

B Health Informatics and 

Information Management 
20 149 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

109



11  

 

M Communication 83 60 

M Social Work 
(also available 100% online) 

234 303 

M Digital Media; Interactive 

Entertainment 
119 (at Downtown CEM) 128 

M Health Sciences 
(one major also available 100% online) 

247 298 

M Health Informatics and 

Information Management 
(one major also available 100% online) 

 

0 
 

82 

Total 3,374 5,383 

Sources: Board staff analysis of State University Data System data as of 10/27/2015 
Enrollment projections from UCF Downtown Campus Proposal 

 
In its December 4, 2015 addendum (page six), UCF posits that the Board’s staff analysis 
represents a different time period because it considers actual enrollment data, and does 
not take into account projected growth, whereas the UCF projections are based on Fall 
2018, with 2% annual growth. .Board staff continue to question enrollment projections, 
in particular projections of students who will be taking coursework and engaged in 
activities on the Downtown Campus. 

 
Appropriateness of Moving Certain Programs 
With regard to the appropriateness of moving certain of the programs to the Downtown 
Campus, two of the academic programs—Health Services Administration and Health 
Informatics and Information Management—would account for 35% of the 
undergraduate headcount enrollment in Year One.  The Board of Governors may wish 
to question the proposed movement of the Healthcare Administration and the Health 
Informatics and Information Management programs to the Downtown Campus, since 
those programs align well with business programs at UCF’s main campus or, 
alternately, with programs associated with the Medical City at Lake Nona. 

 
The Board of Governors may also have questions with regard to the proposed 
movement of other academic offerings. For example, the Bachelor of Arts in Digital 
Media has two tracks: Game Design and Web Design. Game Design fits well with other 
offerings at the Center for Emerging Media Downtown; however, this may be less so in 
the case of Web Design, which may be a better fit with computer science and 
information technology programs on the main campus. Furthermore, if only one of the 
tracks would be moved to the Downtown Campus, the enrollment split between the 
two majors would affect the enrollment projections at the downtown site. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

110



12  

Current Provision of Programs at Other Geographic Locations 
The map in Appendix I shows UCF’s educational sites and geographic coverage within 

five to fifteen miles of downtown Orlando. Certain of the programs proposed for 

movement to the Downtown Campus are also offered at some of these regional joint- 

use campuses. It may not be realistic to expect that students in these programs on the 

joint-use campuses will migrate to a Downtown Campus. An additional question is 

whether projected enrollments for downtown have been adjusted to account for any 

place-bound regional enrollments. In addition, it is unclear whether there is excess 

capacity that could be utilized at any of the regional joint-use sites. A response to this 

issue was not provided in the December 4, 2015 addendum. 
 

In its December 4, 2015 addendum UCF has stated that it intends to fully relocate 

programs to the Downtown Campus and that “The faculty, department resources, 

student advising, and other offices will moving – and the students will still be engaged 

and on the campus, even if they are not taking face-to-face instruction.” Table Six 

below provides information as to the current locations of certain of the programs 

proposed for movement to the Downtown Campus. A point of particular relevance is 

that the Bachelor’s in Health Services Administration is projected to account for 32% of 

the Year One undergraduate enrollment at the Downtown Campus. 
 

Table Six: Proposed Programs and Current Locations 

 
Human Communication 

Offered at 5 regional campuses and also appears to 
be one of three majors (or tracks) under one CIP 
code, not a single program 

Legal Studies Offered at 5 regional campuses 

 
BFA Character Animation 

Currently offered at the Center for Emerging 
Media, but one of 3 majors under the same CIP 
code 

B Health Services 
Administration 

 

Also offered online 

B.A. Digital Media Has two majors under the same CIP code, but not 
clear if both majors are moving Downtown 

 

Master’s in Social Work 
Offered as evening part-time courses and also 
entirely offered online 

Professional Science Master’s in 
Healthcare Informatics 

Entirely online and also a market tuition rate 
program 

Source: Board staff review of UCF website 

 
The UCF December 4, 2015 addendum did not provide further information as to 
programs proposed for relocation to the Downtown Campus and the potential impact 
on current sites where they are offered. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

111



13  

Enrollments Associated with Distance Learning 
In its December 4, 2015 addendum (page five), UCF defends its inclusion of distance 
learning students in its enrollment projections, because “The faculty, department 
resources, student advising, and other offices will be moving – and the students will 
still be engaged and on the campus, even if they are not taking face-to-face instruction.” 
Board staff continue to question the extent to which non-face-to-face students will see 
faculty and advisors, use recreation centers, and engage in student organizations on a 
limited basis. 

 

 

Furthermore, in its indication of the impact of distance learning on Downtown Campus 
enrollment projections (page six, UCF December 4, 2015 addendum), UCF indicates 
that, by its own definition, a face-to-face student is one who enrolls in at least one face- 
to-face course across the academic year.  Another way of stating this is that a face-to- 
face student is one who enrolls in as little as one face-to-face course across the academic 
year.  The Board of Governors should continue to question the extent to which the 
students will spend time on the Downtown Campus engaged in academic and other 
activities. 

 
Several of the programs targeted for the Downtown Campus currently include at least 
one major online component. Therefore, the Board of Governors should question 
whether enrollments in these programs will fully materialize on the Downtown 
Campus. 

 
It is important to note that the Bachelor’s program in Health Services Administration, 
proposed for movement to the Downtown Campus, is offered 100% online, and that 
this program is projected to constitute 32% of the Year One undergraduate enrollment 
on the Downtown Campus. The Master’s of Social Work is currently offered as a part- 
time evening program for working professionals and also available online. This 
program is projected to account for 303, or 34%, of the Year One headcount enrollment 
at the graduate level. 

 
 
 

Table Seven below identifies programs proposed for relocation to the UCF Downtown 
Campus and their 2014-15 distance learning enrollments. It may not be realistic to 
assume that these distance learning enrollments constitute a significant face-to-face 
presence at the Downtown Campus. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

112



14  

 

Table Seven: Programs Proposed for Relocation to Downtown Campus 
And Their 2014-15 Distance Learning Enrollments 

Programs Proposed for Relocation to 

Downtown Campus 

 

2014-15 Distance Learning Enrollments 

B Human Communications 100 

B Legal Studies 130 

B Social Work 27 

B Digital Media 25 

B Emerging Media; Character Animation 17 

B Health Services Administration 1,068 

B Health Informatics and Information 

Management 

41 

M Communication 7 

M Social Work 21 

M Digital Media; Interactive 

Entertainment 

1 

M Health Sciences 63 

M Health Care Informatics 78 

Total Distance Learning Enrollments 1,578 

Source: State University Data System as of 10/27/2015 
 
Enrollments for the individual campuses and distance learning were calculated by identifying students who took 
75% of their courses at one campus or through distance learning during the 2014-2015 academic year. 

 
Internship Availability and Requirements 
The relation between enrollment expectations and provision of internships is highly 
relevant. However, the Board of Governors should question the extent to which 
proximity to businesses and organizations in downtown Orlando will provide an 

appreciable internship benefit to the large majority of these students. 

 
The proposal posits that a Downtown Campus will connect students with diverse 
businesses, government entities, and nonprofits. The proposal contains letters of 
support that reference internships, and the proposal indicates that approximately 100 
downtown and nearby organizations have expressed interest in working with UCF 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

113



15  

students and faculty.  While internships are referenced in the letters of support, 
quantification of internships is not provided, nor was it provided in UCF’s December 4, 
2015 addendum. Historically, and in most disciplines, the opportunity for internships 
is made available a few at a time.  It is, therefore, relevant to question the opportunity 
for internships associated with the Downtown Campus on anything like a major scale. 

 
Other institutions of higher education also located in the Downtown Orlando area that 
have similar programs may provide competition in the search for internship 
placements. According to the Expertnet/Talentnet Statewide Program Inventory, in 
Workforce Region 12, the Orlando metropolitan area, there are (including UCF): 

 15 institutions offering bachelor’s or master’s programs in Healthcare 
Administration; 

 7 institutions offering bachelor’s or master’s programs in Healthcare 
Information/Medical Informatics; 

 6 institutions offering bachelor’s or master’s programs in Legal Studies (not 
counting the FAMU Law School); and 

 4 institutions offering bachelor’s or master’s programs in Digital Media, 
Animation, or Computer Art. 

 
Although the majority of these institutions are independent for-profit colleges and 
universities, the Board of Governors should ask if there has been an analysis to 
determine whether these institutions’ students will be competing with UCF students for 
internships and job opportunities in downtown Orlando. In addition, the Board may 
ask whether there has been any discussion with the FAMU College of Law, which is 
near the proposed UCF site, to ensure that Legal Studies students will not be impacting 
the availability of legal clinical clerkships in downtown Orlando. 

 
A field internship is a graduation requirement for four programs that would be located 
on the new campus, and students in these programs are routinely placed in internships 
throughout Florida. The Bachelor of Science in Health Administration and the Bachelor 
of Science in Health Informatics and Management program websites provide a list of 
possible internship sites scattered across Florida, including sites in Miami, Tampa, St. 
Petersburg, Bradenton, Jacksonville, Winter Park, St. Augustine, Altamonte Springs, 
West Palm Beach, and Deland as well as in Orlando. As noted above, these programs 
are associated with a large portion of the expected Downtown Campus enrollment. 
Similarly, the Bachelor of Science in Social Work requires a field internship for 
graduation, and this program is projected to constitute 384 headcount students at the 
Downtown Campus in Year One.  The Master’s of Social Work also requires a field 
clinical/internship. This program is projected to account for 303 headcount students in 
Year One. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

114



16  

Academic and Research Synergies 
It has long been understood that interdisciplinary connections across academic 
disciplines create value-added synergies of teaching and research for both faculty and 
students. The UCF proposal states that such synergies will be maintained even with the 
movement of certain programs to the Downtown Campus. History has demonstrated, 
however, that proximity is a key to collaboration; indeed, it has been the argument for 
the construction of several SUS facilities. Proximity has been demonstrated to increase 
collaboration. An example is Florida State University’s High-Performance Materials 
Institute which is proximate to FSU’s Superconductivity Center, its Center for 
Advanced Power Systems, its National High Magnetic Field Laboratory, and the 
Florida Agricultural and Mechanical-FSU College of Engineering. The Board of 
Governors should ask whether collaboration can be sustained over time, given absence 
of proximity. This issue was not addressed in UCF’s December 4, 2015 addendum. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

115



 

 

 

Appendix 1: UCF Geographic Coverage  Near Downtown Orlando 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lm&glcon 
sr.rf'fOtnr 

· 
1111 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Chnstma.s 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
17 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

116



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

University of Central Florida Clarification Following  
Board of Governors Staff Analysis: 

 
UCF Downtown Campus 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

December 18, 2015 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

117



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

2 

Table of Contents 
 
Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Project Scope and Purpose .............................................................................................................. 3 

Table 1. Comparison of industry concentrations in the surrounding areas of the UCF main 
campus and the UCF Downtown site...................................................................................... 4 

Projected Operational Costs, Capital Costs, and Revenues ............................................................ 5 

Project Priority ................................................................................................................................ 6 

Meeting Enrollments ....................................................................................................................... 7 

Initial Enrollment Projections ..................................................................................................... 8 

Table 2. Projected enrollment breakdown at UCF Downtown ............................................. 10 

Figure 1. Student behavior by learning modality, Fall 2015 ................................................ 11 

Appropriateness of Moving Certain Programs ......................................................................... 12 

Current Provision of Programs at Other Geographic Locations ............................................... 13 

Enrollments Associated with Distance Learning ...................................................................... 14 

Internship Availability and Requirements ................................................................................ 15 

Figure 2. UCF Downtown and surrounding community ...................................................... 16 

Academic and Research Synergies ............................................................................................... 17 

References ..................................................................................................................................... 18 

Appendix I .................................................................................................................................... 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

118



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

3 

Introduction 
 
On December 4, 2015, the University of Central Florida (UCF) submitted a draft addendum to its 
October 2015 Type I Proposal for a downtown campus. Based upon an analysis and feedback 
from Board of Governors staff, UCF submits this clarification on December 18, 2015 to further 
answer questions about the project, following the same format as the Board of Governors’ staff 
analysis.  
 
How to read this document: Board of Governors staff analysis and questions are italicized with 
UCF’s responses provided below each item. The university welcomes the opportunity to provide 
further clarification to any additional questions about the downtown campus.  
 
Brief overview of UCF Downtown: The downtown campus is a continuation of UCF’s success 
with location-based education – or establishing the intellectual anchors of growing industry 
clusters to deepen students’ learning and professional preparation for those industries. UCF’s 
experience with the Rosen College of Hospitality Management in the heart of Orlando’s tourism 
corridor supports this type of engagement and proves that this model is a success. UCF expects 
similar results in downtown Orlando, and will further detail this evidence from the Rosen 
College in a later “Enrollment” section of this document.  
 
The downtown campus will immerse UCF students in a stimulating environment and profoundly 
increase student access to and awareness of authentic learning opportunities and relevant 
community-based activities including internships, service-learning, and diverse learning 
experiences, all of which are categorized by the American Association of Colleges and 
Universities as “high-impact educational practices.” Such practices have been shown in research 
to promote “deep learning” that leads to gains in learning and personal development (Kuh 2008); 
to lead to “greater educational gains, higher grades, and greater satisfaction with college” (Laird 
2008); that result in greater student engagement (Center for Community College Student 
Engagement 2013); and promote success of underserved students in particular (Finley and 
McNair 2013). 
 

Project Scope and Purpose 
 
Board of Governors states that it is not clear whether the stated number of jobs in downtown 
Orlando cited in the Type 1 proposal “are all unfilled jobs and whether these are jobs that 
would be targeted toward graduates from the Downtown Campus programs.” 
 

UCF’s original Type I submission indicated that more than 74,000 people work 
downtown – this data was provided from the City of Orlando to offer context for the 
overall workforce environment, not to show vacant positions. Further industry data for 
the surrounding UCF Downtown location indicate higher concentrations of businesses 
and organizations affiliated with the degree programs that UCF intends to relocate 
downtown, as illustrated by Table 1 below.  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

119



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

4 

 
Table 1. Comparison of industry concentrations in the surrounding areas of the UCF main campus and 
the UCF Downtown site. Entries represent companies and organizations.  

 
In UCF’s experience, internship opportunities for students at the Rosen College of 
Hospitality Management significantly grew after the college relocated to the tourism 
corridor. In the past decade, the number of Rosen College students in co-op or internship 
courses has grown from about 520 to 2,800 today. This is due in large part to the dense 
concentration of tourism and tourism-related industry in such close proximity to the Rosen 
College campus. Similarly, UCF expects that students at the downtown campus will have 
increased internship opportunities – as well as more relevant work experiences while 
studying downtown. 

 
Board of Governors staff suggested the Board should “consider the primary question of whether 
the overall project is a response to an unmet demand for postsecondary education, economic 
development, or both.” 
 

UCF Downtown is a response to unmet demand for post-secondary education. The 
campus will provide access to post-secondary education in the immediate downtown 
area, where degree attainment is lower than the rest of the region. It also will help 
advance the region’s economic prosperity. As a metropolitan research university, UCF is 
committed to efforts to attract, retain, and grow Florida’s innovation economy by 
building quality research and academic programs in areas that impact existing and 
emerging industry clusters, and by partnering with innovative companies and 
organizations to advance this mission.  
 
Nine of the 14 academic programs slated to relocate downtown are in areas of Strategic 
Emphasis, which the Board of Governors has identified to better align universities’ 
degree-production goals with unmet job needs across the state. A further breakdown of 
the UCF Downtown academic programs in Strategic Emphasis areas is below: 
 

• Critical Workforce – Health: 4 degree programs focused on health service 
administration and informatics.  

• Critical Workforce – Gap Analysis: 2 degree programs focused on 
communications; and 1 graduate certificate in corporate communications. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

120



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

5 

• Economic Development – STEM: 2 degree programs focused on Digital 
Media and Interactive Entertainment. 

 
Regarding the question of scope, Board of Governors staff suggests “UCF’s downtown Center 
for Emerging Media appears to be currently under-utilized. If this is the case, the Board of 
Governors should consider whether building more infrastructure downtown is desirable.” 
 

UCF’s Type I proposal also included the renovation of an existing facility on the 
downtown site – the Center for Emerging Media. The building currently houses the 
Florida Interactive Entertainment Academy (FIEA) – a master’s degree in an area of 
Strategic Emphasis as defined by the Board of Governors – along with programs in 
Emerging Media and Character Animation, and community-facing initiatives 
encouraging the use of technology in K-12 classrooms. Being downtown – in closer 
proximity to the growing digital media cluster and Electronic Arts – has helped FIEA 
distinguish itself as North America’s No. 2-ranked graduate video gaming school.  

 
When UCF partnered with the City of Orlando to create FIEA a decade ago, 11,000 
square feet were left undeveloped for future use and expansion. When UCF referenced 
“under-utilized” space in the Type 1 proposal, it was referring to this undeveloped 11,000 
square feet. 
 
The Center for Emerging Media site is currently designated as a Special Purpose Center, 
only allowing up to 300 FTE. Renovating the Center for Emerging Media, as referenced 
in the Type 1 proposal, will allow the facility to support 1,000 more UCF and Valencia 
College digital media students. UCF is committing university resources to support this 
renovation because it is a major component of the overall campus proposal. It is 
important to note that this renovation relies on classroom space in the new academic 
building to support the additional UCF and Valencia students. Renovating this facility 
alone, without the new academic building, will not provide the necessary infrastructure 
for a robust downtown campus.  
 

Projected Operational Costs, Capital Costs, and Revenues 
 
Board of Governors staff state that the operating budget for the downtown campus is heavily tied 
to tuition and fees, and overall enrollment projections are “imperative” to the campus’ budget 
model. 
 

UCF is confident it will meet the enrollment projections stated in the Type I proposal. It 
is important to understand that the campus’ budget model is based upon the student credit 
hours that will be produced by departments relocating downtown, where faculty, 
department resources, and other services will be based, or “headquartered,” regardless of 
learning modality. 

 
Further response to questions about enrollment are included in the “Enrollment” section 
of this document.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

121



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

6 

Board of Governors staff mentioned “additional unspecified costs would be associated with 
renovation of the Center for Emerging Media facility.”  
 

Renovations at the Center for Emerging Media are expected to cost about $5 million, 
which the university has already allocated from internal resources. The university has 
closely worked with an outside cost-estimator, Clancy & Theys, to ensure these dollars 
will be sufficient for the planned renovation. 

 
Board of Governors staff states the Type 1 proposal “does not provide specific information as to 
the source of funds” that are associated with UCF’s $20 million contribution to the $60 million 
new academic building. 
 

UCF proposes a funding model for the new academic building that would require the 
university to contribute $20 million toward construction. These funds would come from 
multiple sources, such as vendor transaction rebates and concessions, auxiliary facility 
rental fees, interest earnings on auxiliary cash balances, and appropriate direct support 
organization contributions. The remainder of the new academic building would be funded 
by $20 million in philanthropy and a $20-million request for state funding.  

 
Board of Governors staff questions whether students would take advantage of the 300 beds of 
student housing proposed for the downtown campus based on the number of part-time students 
enrolled and the average age of students in the programs.   
 

Since UCF submitted its Type I proposal in October 2015 and draft addendum on 
December 4, 2015, the university has adjusted its plans, and there will be no university-
constructed housing on the university’s 15-acre site when the campus opens in 2018. The 
private developer will continue its plans to deliver student housing adjacent to the new 
academic building upon the opening of the campus. UCF will continue to work with the 
private developer to ensure the appropriate number of beds is available to meet students’ 
housing needs. 

 

Project Priority 
 
Board of Governors staff suggests the priority of the UCF Downtown Campus should be 
compared “to other System priorities.”  
 

While this section would be best addressed by the Board of Governors, UCF believes that 
the downtown campus will provide the State University System (SUS) and Florida 
taxpayers with a significant return on investment – both academic and economic. The 
university is proposing a 2:1 funding match, only requesting $20 million from the state 
for a $60 million facility.  

 
Compared to other SUS institutions, UCF already awards more degrees and serves more 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

122



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

7 

students (FTE) per square foot.1 UCF’s figures compared to the SUS are below: 
 

• UCF: 157 Square Feet /Degree Awarded – 58 Square Feet / FTE 
• SUS: 297 Square Feet / Degree Awarded – 106 Square Feet / FTE 

 
Upon opening, students at the downtown campus are expected to earn more than 1,800 
degrees annually – a majority in areas of Strategic Emphasis – contributing toward the 
Board of Governors’ 2025 goal of awarding 90,000 bachelor’s degrees annually. UCF 
will help meet this goal, while having the lowest average cost per bachelor’s degree to the 
state: 

 
• UCF: $22,430 for 2010-14  
• SUS: $27,260 for 2010-14 

 
Additionally, an updated economic impact analysis of the project shows the downtown 
campus will create over 2,000 jobs and $90 million in wages (direct, indirect, and 
induced), and generate more than $205 million in gross economic income in a typical 
year across state and local economies.2 
 
When comparing this request to others, the SUS will realize more degrees for the capital 
investment requested, at a lower cost to the state, while meeting the needs defined by the 
Board of Governors.  

 

Meeting Enrollments 
 
Board of Governors staff draws attention to the mention of a “reverter clause” in the original 
Memorandum of Understanding submitted with the Type 1 proposal. Specifically, the MOU 
included a statement that all deeds for the transfer of land downtown would be tied to a 
minimum number of students agreed to by both parties. 
 

Since UCF submitted its original Type I proposal, the City of Orlando has dropped the 
“reverter clause” in its Memorandum of Understanding with the university. A letter from 
City of Orlando Mayor Buddy Dyer is attached to this updated addendum as Appendix I.  

 
Board of Governors staff outline enrollment questions in five distinct areas: “(1) the initial 
accuracy of enrollment projections; (2) considerations as to which programs would be most 
appropriate to relocate; (3) the choice of programs to move downtown that are currently being 
offered at regional campuses; (4) the choice of programs to move downtown that are currently  
 
 
 

                                                      
1 Data pulled from Board of Governors’ report on university facilities by categories used in capital outlay budgeting, 
inventory of net assignable square feet as of June 30, 2012 
2 November 2015 update from GAI Consultants, Inc.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

123



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

8 

being offered wholly or in part online; and (5) realistic prospects for internships in general, as 
well as specifically for those programs that require internships as part of program 
requirements.” 
 

UCF responds to each of the concerns in the subsections below.  
 
Initial Enrollment Projections 
 
The Board of Governors staff indicated the Board should question the extent to which enrollments at 
the UCF Downtown location “may be optimistic.” 
 

As the state’s largest university, UCF prides itself on its ability to continually attract 
quality students and is confident that it will meet its downtown enrollment projections. 
From 2010-14, UCF’s enrollment grew by 10 percent; whereas the programs slated to 
relocate downtown grew by almost 22 percent. Experience shows that relocating 
academic programs adjacent to affiliated industry clusters fosters quality and growth. 
Since relocating to the International Drive area, the Rosen College of Hospitality 
Management has more than doubled from 1,300 students in 2004 to about 3,000 students 
today with a job placement rate of about 90 percent upon graduation.3  
 

Board of Governors staff also questions whether enrollment projections will be met “because they 
appear to be based on past enrollments at the six-digit Classification of Instructional Program (CIP) 
Code level, which includes all majors being offered under the CIP.” In addition, staff raised 
questions regarding additional unrelated programs that may have been included in downtown 
enrollment figures.  
 

In UCF’s enrollment projections for the downtown campus, the university only included 
headcount in the majors and tracks that would be relocating, regardless of CIP code 
classification. Enrollment projections did not count students outside the specific degree 
programs listed in UCF’s Type I proposal. No Advertising/Public Relations students were 
included in the projections; therefore, the enrollment projections for Human 
Communication are not over-estimated. Additionally, the staff analysis questioned 
whether enrollment projections for a new program, Communication and Conflict, which 
did not begin until Spring 2015 – were included. Projections for this program were not 
included because the university had no baseline data.  
 
Table 2 included in the response to the next question shows exactly the programs and 
tracks that will be relocated to the downtown campus, as outlined in the Type I proposal.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                      
3 Data from Rosen College graduating student surveys 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

124



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

9 

Board of Governors staff states “while the students may in fact visit the downtown campus for some 
face-to-face courses, advising, testing, and campus activities, it should be noted that the percentage 
of students who appear to be taking most of their coursework at regional campuses or through 
distance learning is significant. Also, as expected with the UCF distributed instruction model, a 
significant number of students are taking courses at multiple campuses and/or through distance 
learning.” 

 
UCF’s overall enrollment projections for the downtown campus have not changed since 
the university submitted its Type I proposal in October. Of the 5,395 UCF students who 
will be enrolled in downtown campus academic programs, 4,298 students will attend at 
least one face-to-face course on the campus weekly. The remaining 1,097 UCF students 
will be taking courses online or at regional campus locations in the academic programs 
that will be “headquartered” on the downtown campus. The student credit hours 
generated by the departments will be attributed to the downtown campus for budgetary 
reasons – whether the students are taking face-to-face or online courses.  
 
Table 2 below provides additional clarification as to how many of the total students 
served by the campus in each academic program will engage in face-to-face learning as 
compared to the Board of Governors’ staff analysis of distance learning students (which 
they define as taking 75% or more of their coursework online) when the campus opens in 
Fall 2018.  
 
Altogether, the campus will enroll 5,395 UCF students. With Valencia College’s 
projected enrollment of 2,303 students in Fall 2018, the campus will serve a total of 
7,698 students.   

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

125



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

10 

 
 

Table 2. Projected enrollment breakdown at UCF Downtown 
 
 

It is important to note that the university does not admit undergraduate students based 
upon their learning modality, and instead allows students to choose, each semester, the 
courses that best help them complete their degree, at a location most convenient for them. 
At the downtown campus, UCF students will enroll in multiple learning modalities, as 
they do on the university’s main campus. This includes students, in a given semester, 
taking online courses, face-to-face courses, or a mix of both modalities. For example, at 
UCF’s main campus in Fall 2015, 43.6% of students took face-to-face instruction, 16.2% 
enrolled fully online, and 37.2% took a mixture of online and face-to-face courses.  
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

126



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

11 

 
 
Figure 1. Student behavior by learning modality, Fall 2015 

 
 

UCF also expects the estimated 1,097 UCF students who will be taking courses online or 
at regional campus locations will engage on the downtown campus, where student 
support, recreation, and other services will be located. That is because almost 30% of all 
fully online students in programs slated for downtown engaged in tracked on-campus 
student organization events and activities in 2014-154 – only a few percentage points 
lower than majority face-to-face students. UCF anticipates similar behavior downtown 
and has designed to accommodate these students’ utilization of campus resources. 
Additionally, in 2014-15, only 2.5% of all bachelor’s degrees awarded by the university – 
or 305 degrees of 12,808 – were awarded to students who only took online courses to 
complete their degree, demonstrating that nearly all students engage in face-to-face 
learning during their time at UCF.  

  
Board of Governors staff state the Type 1 proposal and the addendum “do not make clear what 
impact this distributed enrollment pattern might have on the ability of the Downtown Campus to 
anchor the Creative Village redevelopment project, or how it might impact the need for new 
facilities.” 
 

In designing the downtown Orlando campus, UCF looked to Arizona State University’s 
development of a campus in downtown Phoenix, where ASU leaders suggested the 
campus reached a critical mass when enrollment approached 7,000 students, resulting in a 
vibrant downtown campus integrated with the surrounding community and businesses. 
UCF also learned that ASU downtown students take courses across multiple modalities – 
and a quarter of the credit hours generated on the ASU downtown campus are fully 
online. All evidence points to the ASU campus as a successful anchor in downtown 
Phoenix, even with a significant number of students taking online courses.  
 
UCF anticipates that its face-to-face enrollment projections, paired with Valencia’s 
enrollment, at the downtown campus will anchor the Creative Village redevelopment 

                                                      
4 Data from university-wide graduating student surveys 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

127



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

12 

project with about 6,600 face-to-face students – which UCF is confident will meet critical 
mass. The UCF Downtown site already is within walking distance of hundreds of 
businesses, retail locations, and restaurants that students will be able to take advantage of 
on Day 1. The Creative Village private developer, in working with UCF, intends to 
provide additional space for retail and food services geared toward students in the 
immediate area when the campus opens.  
 
The new academic building will be designed to accommodate projected face-to-face 
enrollment at UCF Downtown while providing student support services to all students 
enrolled in the programs that are relocating, as outlined in Table 2. As further growth 
occurs, the planned facilities could accommodate more students through the use of 
technology, mixed learning modes, or collaborative and flexible spaces – not requiring 
additional capital investments.  

 
“Board staff continue to question enrollment projections, in particular projections of students 
who will be taking coursework and engaged in activities on the Downtown Campus.” 
 

UCF’s experience with engagement in activities at the Rosen College of Hospitality 
Management – about 25 miles from the main campus – shows that these students engage 
at greater percentages than students taking courses on the main campus.5 Several 
examples include: 
 

• 33% of Rosen College students engage in honors societies, compared to 19% of 
students from all other colleges. 

• 36% of Rosen College students engage in community service, compared to 34% 
of students from all other colleges. 

• 35% of Rosen College students engage with professional organizations or 
organizations related to their major, compared to 29% of students from all other 
colleges.  

 
UCF expects to see similar engagement patterns for students enrolled in programs at 
the downtown campus because of the proximity to industry, volunteer and community 
engagement activities and organizations, and professional development opportunities.  

 
 
Appropriateness of Moving Certain Programs 
 
Board of Governors staff states the Board “may wish to question the proposed movement of the 
Health Administration and the Health Informatics and Information Management programs to the 
Downtown Campus, since those programs align well with business programs at UCF’s main 
campus or, alternately, with programs associated with the Medical City at Lake Nona.”  
 

The university has made a deliberate decision to locate clinical programs at the Medical 
City at Lake Nona. Programs that support the “business” of healthcare should be located 

                                                      
5 Data from university-wide graduating student surveys 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

128



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

13 

downtown because these programs – such as Healthcare Administration and related 
healthcare technology and informatics programs – put students just minutes away from 
the corporate headquarters of two of the state’s largest hospital systems downtown. 
Downtown students enrolled in Healthcare Administration and related programs will 
benefit from the proximity to relevant work and experiential learning opportunities at 
these healthcare systems’ corporate hub; whereas Lake Nona offers students at the 
College of Medicine unparalleled clinical experience and life sciences research. 
 
In deciding which programs to relocate to the downtown campus, university leadership 
considered the professional opportunities and relevant work experiences available due to 
proximity to downtown industry clusters. For example, there are about 1,800 businesses 
or organizations in the communications, legal, and health and social assistance fields in 
the downtown area, compared to about 350 surrounding our main campus. Refer to Table 
1 on Page 4 above for a detailed breakdown.  

 
Board of Governors staff suggests the Board “may also have questions with regard to the 
proposed movement of other academic offerings. For example, the Bachelor of Arts in Digital 
Media has two tracks: Game Design and Web Design. Game Design fits well with other offerings 
at the Center for Emerging Media Downtown; however, this may be less so in the case of Web 
Design, which may be a better fit with computer science and information technology programs 
on the main campus.”  
 

UCF also chose to relocate its entire Digital Media program (game design and web 
design tracks) to the downtown campus because of its synergies with UCF programs 
already located downtown, such as FIEA. Both of UCF’s Digital Media tracks share 
common core requirements and faculty members. The tracks also better align with 
industry clusters in the immediate downtown area.  

 
Current Provision of Programs at Other Geographic Locations 
 
Board of Governors staff provided a map that includes UCF education sites within 5 to 15 miles 
of downtown Orlando, while stating that certain programs proposed to relocate to the downtown 
campus are also offered at UCF regional campus sites, and that “it may not be realistic to 
expect that students in these programs on the joint-use campuses would migrate to a Downtown 
Campus.”  
 

UCF Downtown is not replacing these regional sites, and instead is relocating 
departments from the main campus to downtown Orlando. UCF does not expect these 
students to migrate downtown. However, students may choose to take face-to-face at the 
downtown site due to its central location and because the academic departments are 
“headquartered” there, but the university will not require them to do so.  

 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

129



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

14 

Additionally, Board of Governors staff question “whether projected enrollments for the 
downtown campus have been adjusted to account for any place-bound regional enrollments.”  
 

These students were not included in Year One face-to-face enrollment projections listed 
in Table 2.  

 
Board of Governors staff also state that UCF does “not provide further information as to the 
programs proposed for relocation to the Downtown Campus and the potential impact on current 
sites where they are offered….in addition, it is unclear whether there is excess capacity that 
could be utilized at any of the regional joint-use sites.”  
 

UCF adjusts its instructional resources based upon student demand for location or 
learning modality. As stated above, the UCF Downtown campus will not replace existing 
regional campus sites. Indeed, the downtown campus will be very different from UCF’s 
existing regional campus locations because undergraduate students will have the option 
to complete their 4-year degree with face-to-face instruction at the downtown site, where 
all of the departments’ resources will be available to them. Currently, students cannot 
complete 4-year degrees in any of the programs slated to relocate downtown at any 
regional campus site. Further, UCF will continue to evaluate instructional resources at its 
current sites, and make adjustments based upon student behavior and need. 

 
Enrollments Associated with Distance Learning 
 
The Board of Governors staff continues to question the extent to which non-face-to-face students 
will see faculty and advisors, use recreation centers, and engage in student organizations on a 
limited basis and spend time on the downtown campus, engaged in academic or other activities. 
 

UCF knows that students, regardless of modality, will engage with campus services and 
student support, and meet with faculty members at the same rates. That is because UCF’s 
experience with distance learning shows that students will still be engaged and on the 
campus, even if they are not taking face-to-face instruction.6  
 
Of the current students in the programs slated to relocate downtown, those enrolled in at 
least 75% online instruction: 
 

• Used the on-campus recreation center at nearly the same rate; and 
• Engaged with on-campus student organizations at nearly the same rate as those 

taking majority face-to-face instruction.  
 
UCF knows that its 100% online students remain engaged in student organizations and 
campus programs, and will similarly do so downtown. Almost 30% of all fully online 
students in programs slated for downtown engaged in tracked on-campus student 
organization events and activities in 2014-15 – only a few percentage points lower than 
majority face-to-face students.  

                                                      
6 Data in this section from university-wide graduating student surveys 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

130



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

15 

Several of the programs targeted for the downtown campus currently include at least one major 
online component, and the Board staff analysis suggests the Board of Governors “should 
question whether enrollments in these programs will fully materialize on the Downtown 
Campus.” 
 

Several of the programs relocating to the downtown campus have online components, but 
the majority of UCF students enroll in a mixture of face-to-face and online instruction to 
complete their degree. Therefore, UCF is confident that its enrollment projections—
which are based on existing student behavior – will fully materialize at the downtown. 
As example, in 2014-15, only 2.5% of all bachelor’s degrees awarded by the university – 
or 305 degrees of 12,808 – were to those who only took online courses to complete their 
degree. It is important to note that student course-taking behavior varies throughout each 
student’s academic career – and enrolling in online courses one semester does not imply 
that a student should be labeled a full-time distance learner.  

 
Just one of programs slated to relocate downtown – Healthcare Informatics – is only 
offered fully online. This program is a master’s level program designed for working 
professionals, with fewer than 80 students currently enrolled. Because the department’s 
resources, faculty members, and other support staff will relocate downtown, the 
program’s “home” will be at the downtown campus. Additionally, the faculty who teach 
the online master’s Healthcare Informatics program will be located downtown to support 
other related academic programs relocating there.  

 
Internship Availability and Requirements 
 
The Board of Governors staff suggests the Board “should question the extent to which proximity 
to business and organizations in downtown Orlando will provide an appreciable internship 
benefit to the large majority of these students.”  
 

UCF students study and intern across the globe. However, most also benefit from 
internship opportunities in Orlando year round. In fact, in the 2014-15 academic year, 
8,650 students participated in internship courses, with the vast majority recorded in the 
fall and spring semesters while students are enrolled in additional coursework. Because 
of the high concentration of related industries in downtown Orlando, as evidenced by 
Table 1 on Page 4 and the map below, the necessary volume of internships will be 
available to UCF students downtown.  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

131



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

16 

 
 
Figure 2. UCF Downtown and surrounding community 

 
 
Additionally, Board of Governors staff states that UCF did not quantify the number of 
internships that would be provided downtown and that “historically, and it most disciplines, the 
opportunity for internships are made available a few at a time.” Therefore, staff suggests it is 
relevant to question the opportunity for internships associated with the downtown campus “on 
anything like a major scale.” 
 

From UCF’s experience, internship opportunities for students at the Rosen College of 
Hospitality Management significantly grew after the college relocated to the tourism 
corridor. Since 2004, the number of Rosen College students in co-op or internship 
courses has grown from about 520 to 2,800 today. Because of increased proximity to 
high-quality talent, even more opportunities became available for students from 
surrounding industry – shattering the notion that internships are only are available a few 
at a time.  

 
Board of Governors staff suggests that the board should “ask if there has been an analysis to 
determine whether institutions in the area will be competing with UCF students for internships 
and job opportunities in downtown Orlando. In addition, the Board may ask whether there has 
been any discussion with the FAMU College of Law, which is near the proposed UCF Site, to 
ensure that Legal Studies students will not be impacting the availability of legal clinical 
clerkships in downtown Orlando.” 
 

UCF already has secured more than 30 letters from industry leaders in the downtown area 
in technology, digital media, law, healthcare, and public service who expressed interest in 
providing employment and internship opportunities for UCF students upon the campus’ 
opening. Currently, UCF students successfully compete for internships throughout the 
region, and the university believes that new partnerships and internship opportunities that 
arise will benefit all students (from varying institutions) studying in the downtown area. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

132



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

17 

In fact, UCF is in discussion with FAMU College of Law about how to best leverage our 
collective resources, facilities, and services to benefit students. There is no concern that 
FAMU law students and UCF Legal Studies students will compete for the same 
opportunities, as the academic programs and internship requirements differ.  

 

Academic and Research Synergies 
 
The Board of Governors staff states it has long been understood that interdisciplinary 
connections across academic disciplines create value-added synergies of teaching and research 
for both faculty and students. Additionally, they state that “proximity is a key to collaboration.” 
Finally, staff suggests “The Board of Governors should ask whether collaboration can be 
sustained over time, given absence of proximity.” 
  

In UCF’s experience, campus location does not stifle collaboration. Recently, faculty 
members at the College of Medicine in Lake Nona and at the Rosen College of 
Hospitality Management – about 16 miles apart – developed a new graduate degree track 
to help ensure future doctors are patient-friendly while providing excellent care. 

 
UCF also intends to provide dedicated transportation for faculty and staff to easily move 
between the downtown campus and the main campus, as well as transportation to and 
from the Rosen College and the College of Medicine – from both the main campus and 
the downtown campus. 
 
UCF knows that interdisciplinary programs and research contribute to solving today’s 
toughest scientific and societal challenges, as solutions to these problems often lie at the 
edge of multiple disciplines. In looking at the programs that UCF selected to relocate 
downtown, faculty members in these programs played a critical role in the decision-
making process, and campus planning resulted from proposals for cross-disciplinary 
work. Two examples of value-added synergies that emerged from these discussions are 
between Human Communication and Healthcare Administration, and between Digital 
Media and Health Informatics and Information Management, to improve healthcare 
communications and healthcare data visualization, in addition to further interdisciplinary 
opportunities. These programs also will benefit from proximity to affiliated industry 
clusters (communications and healthcare technology) in the downtown area.  

 
Additionally, UCF expects new synergies will arise downtown in the same way that 
synergies have evolved at UCF’s main campus among engineering programs, UCF’s 
Institute for Simulation and Training, and the Central Florida Research Park’s multi-
billion-dollar modeling and simulation industry cluster.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

133



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

18 

References 
 

Center for Community College Student Engagement. A Matter of Degrees: Engaging Practices, 
Engaging Students; High-Impact Practices for Community College Student Engagement. 
Austin: University of Texas at Austin, Community College Leadership Program, 2013. 
https://www.ccsse.org/docs/Matter_of_Degrees_2.pdf. 

Finley, Ashley, and Tia McNair. Assessing Underserved Students’ Engagement in High-Impact 
Practices. Washington, DC: AAC&U, 2013. https://www.aacu.org/sites/default/files/files 
/assessinghips/AssessingHIPS_TGGrantReport.pdf. 

Kuh, George D. High-Impact Educational Practices: What They Are, Who Has Access to Them, 
and Why They Matter. Washington, DC: AAC&U, 2008. 
http://secure.aacu.org/store/detail.aspx?id=E-HIGHIMP. 

Laird, Thomas F. Nelson, Rick Shoup, George D. Kuh, and Michael J. Schwarz. “The Effects of 
Discipline on Deep Approaches to Student Learning and College Outcomes.” Research in 
Higher Education 49, no. 6 (2008): 469–94. 
http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11162-008-9088-5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

134



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 
 

19 

Appendix I 
 
Letter from Orlando Mayor Buddy Dyer pertaining to UCF’s Memorandum of Understanding for 
the downtown site.  
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

135



 

 

December 17, 2015 

 

 

 

 

Marshall Criser III, Chancellor 

State University System of Florida 

325 W. Gaines Street, #1614 

Tallahassee, FL 32399 

 

Chancellor Criser,  

As we continue working with the University of Central Florida (UCF) on plans for a campus in Downtown 

Orlando, we understand there has been concern with reference to the reverter clause included in the 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City and UCF as it relates to land planned to be conveyed 

to UCF for the campus.  

We included the reverter clause because we want to ensure the City’s land donation to UCF valued at 

approximately $20 million, is used to fulfill the vision for the Downtown campus.  

I am proud of the strong partnerships the City has forged with UCF and Valencia College and for the close 

relationship I have with President Hitt and President Shugart. We remain committed to the Downtown campus 

project and to ensuring it advances the goals of our State University System and the reputation of Orlando and 

Florida as one of the nation’s best places to get a college degree and then a high wage job.  

Because of our community’s unwavering commitment to this campus, I do not believe we need a reverter 

clause to ensure the campus’ success. As such, I agree any future agreements or conveyances for 

consideration by City Council would not include a reverter clause, thus transferring clear title to UCF.  

Again, I remain committed to the UCF Downtown campus project and will continue to build strong partnerships 

and garner support to make this campus a reality.  

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Buddy Dyer 
Mayor 
 
cc: UCF President John Hitt 
      UCF Board of Trustees Chairman Marcos Marchena 

       

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

136

mkilbrid
Highlight



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

137



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

138



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

139



UCF Errata: Downtown Campus Submitted 2/10/16  

Errata 

to 

University of Central Florida Clarification Following 
Board of Governors Staff Analysis: 

 
 

UCF Downtown Campus 

Originally submitted December 18, 2015 

 
 
The errata corrections listed below apply to the University of Central Florida Clarification 
originally submitted on December 18, 2015. Copies of the pages with corrections follow 
this errata sheet. 

 

 
 

Page Change 
 
10 (last paragraph) In Fall 2015 on UCF’s main campus, [change from

 43.6% to] about 46% of students took face-to-face 
instruction, [change from 16.2% to] about 16% 
enrolled fully online, and [change from 37.2% to] 
about 38% took a mixture of online and face-to-face 
courses. 

 
11 (Figure 1) Reflects corrected percentages cited on Page 10 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

140



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 

10 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Table 2. Projected enrollment breakdown at UCF Downtown 
 

 
 

It is important to note that the university does not admit undergraduate students based 

upon their learning modality, and instead allows students to choose, each semester, the 

courses that best help them complete their degree, at a location most convenient for them. 

At the downtown campus, UCF students will enroll in multiple learning modalities, as 

they do on the university’s main campus. This includes students, in a given semester, 

taking online courses, face-to-face courses, or a mix of both modalities. For example, at 

UCF’s main campus in Fall 2015, about 46% of students took face-to-face instruction, 

about 16% enrolled fully online, and about 38% took a mixture of online and face-to-face 

courses. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

141



UCF Clarification 12/18/15 

11 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Figure 1. Main Campus student behavior by learning modality, Fall 2015 
 

 
 

UCF also expects the estimated 1,097 UCF students who will be taking courses online or 

at regional campus locations will engage on the downtown campus, where student 

support, recreation, and other services will be located. That is because almost 30% of all 

fully online students in programs slated for downtown engaged in tracked on-campus 

student organization events and activities in 2014-154 – only a few percentage points 

lower than majority face-to-face students. UCF anticipates similar behavior downtown 

and has designed to accommodate these students’ utilization of campus resources. 

Additionally, in 2014-15, only 2.5% of all bachelor’s degrees awarded by the university – 

or 305 degrees of 12,808 – were awarded to students who only took online courses to 

complete their degree, demonstrating that nearly all students engage in face-to-face 

learning during their time at UCF. 
 

Board of Governors staff state the Type 1 proposal and the addendum “do not make clear what 

impact this distributed enrollment pattern might have on the ability of the Downtown Campus to 

anchor the Creative Village redevelopment project, or how it might impact the need for new 

facilities.” 

 
In designing the downtown Orlando campus, UCF looked to Arizona State University’s 

development of a campus in downtown Phoenix, where ASU leaders suggested the 

campus reached a critical mass when enrollment approached 7,000 students, resulting in a 

vibrant downtown campus integrated with the surrounding community and businesses. 

UCF also learned that ASU downtown students take courses across multiple modalities – 

and a quarter of the credit hours generated on the ASU downtown campus are fully 

online. All evidence points to the ASU campus as a successful anchor in downtown 

Phoenix, even with a significant number of students taking online courses. 

 
UCF anticipates that its face-to-face enrollment projections, paired with Valencia’s 

enrollment, at the downtown campus will anchor the Creative Village redevelopment 
 

 
4 Data from university-wide graduating student surveys 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

142



  

Valencia College Post Office Box 3028 
Orlando, FL 32802-3028 

407 299 5000 
valenciacollege.edu 

 

January 14, 2016 
 
 
 
Dr. John Hitt, President 
University of Central Florida 
 
Dear Dr. Hitt: 
 
It is our intention that the partnership arrangement in the downtown campus accomplish two important objectives:  
first, to connect relevant education programs more closely to the primary employers of their graduates, and 
second, to reduce the overall cost of college to our students through partnering with UCF even more deeply at 
this location. 
 
I am writing to confirm Valencia College’s commitment to Phase One of the proposed joint downtown campus.  
Specifically, the college will commit $2 million to the construction of the initial joint-use facility.  This investment is 
comprised of local revenue resources and will not include any state appropriated funds or student tuition and fees. 
 
Valencia College further proposes to redeploy our Walt Disney World School for Hospitality and Culinary Arts 
from our West Campus, where it has outgrown existing facilities, to the downtown campus in facilities provided by 
the master developer.  The fifty thousand square foot commitment will require the college only to finish out the 
fully shelled space and will carry no other building costs.  Most of these very modest costs we anticipate to come 
through philanthropy, corporate in-kind gifts, and other local resources.  We will not seek state capital funding for 
this component of the campus. 
 
Finally, it is quite likely that Valencia College students attending both the downtown campus and other campuses 
will seek housing in the privately provided student housing solution downtown.  This can be accomplished through 
an inter-institutional housing agreement such as we have used in the past. 
 
Thank you for seeking this clarification.  Please feel free to share it with others in the process as necessary.  I 
look forward to extending what is already one of the finest higher education partnerships in the country into new 
and rewarding territory to the benefit of our students and community. 
 
Yours truly, 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Sanford C. Shugart 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

143



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors 
Type I Campus Proposal 

University of Central Florida – UCF Downtown 
 

Appendix E 
 
 

REVISED City of Orlando Memorandum of 
Understanding 

 
 

February 8, 2016 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

144



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

145



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

146



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

147



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

148



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

149



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

150



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

151



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

152



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

153



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

154



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

155



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

156



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

157



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

158



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

159



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

160



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

161



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

162



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

163



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

164



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

165



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

166



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

167


	Introductory Materials
	Agenda Cover
	Activities Schedule

	Nomination and Governance Committee
	Approval of Committee Meeting Minutes; Governor Kuntz
	Agenda Item for Committee action
	Minutes, January 20, 2016

	Recommendation of Candidates to Fill Trustee Vacancies and Report on Applicant Interviews
	Agenda Item for Committee action


	Board of Governors - Regular Meeting
	Public Comment
	Agenda Item for Board information

	Update to the National Rankings Publications List
	Agenda Item for Board action
	Proposal to Update the National Ranking Publications List

	Nomination and Governance Committee Report
	Appointment of University Trustees
	Agenda Item for Board action


	University of Central Florida Downtown Campus
	Agenda Item for Board action
	University Proposal
	Proposal Appendix A - Tables 1-3
	Proposal Appendix B - Original City of Orlando Memorandum of Understanding, 2015-10-20
	Proposal Appendix C - Sample Community Support and Letters
	Proposal Appendix D - UCF and Valencia College Support Letters
	Proposal Addendum, 2015-12-04
	Staff Analysis, 2015-12-16
	University Response and Clarification, 2015-12-18
	Governor's Office Memorandum of Understanding
	UCF Errata to BOG, 2016-02-10
	Valencia Letter, 2016-01-14
	Proposal Appendix E - REVISED City of Orlando Memorandum of Understanding, 2016-02-08



